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PREFACE.

I Thixx that any one who candidly and carefully
peruses the following pages, will find that they are not
open to certain plausible and obvious objections—that
they are not written to represent a mere isolated griev-
ance—that no claim is set forth here of despotic power
for an Indian Rajah, on *“divine right” principles, and
at the expense of an industrious population, contented
and prosperous under British management. It will be
scen that I do not ask for the toleration of old abuses
in the face of accomplished facts and altered circum-
stances, or insist upon an over-scrupulous devotion to
letter and precedent in favour of a Prince, without
regard to the spirit of engagements, without protecting
the interests of the people.

This book is not written merely to propose the re-
consideration of this case of Mysore, but to suggest a
reconsideration of all the relations of the Imperial
Power to the minor States of India; to show how, in
Mysore, we neglected our earliest duties of instruction
and guidance—how, grasping at patronage, we have
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hitherto thrown away the opportunity of establishing
a limited monarchy as a model and exemplar—and how,
by abolishing that Principality, we should, in all proba-
bility, throw away the opportunity for ever, and retard,
or finally obstruct, the progress of Indian reform, and
the relief of our scattered military strength.

I shall endeavour to prove, that although the ex-
pected Mysore Reversion is not by any means ‘“an
Exceptional Case,” in the sense of the official document
which I quote, it is so far exgeptional that the appro-
priation of this State would be exceptionally unjust,
injurious, imprudent, and unprofitable.

And while I argue that statements disparaging a
Prince’s personal conduct or mental qualifications—un-
less asserting crime or idiocy—are as irrelevant to a
question of his sovereignty and his regal position in
India, as they would be in Europe, I shall show that
this Prince’s derelictio ve been much exaggerated,
and that their origin in British neglect has been com-
pletely overlooked ; that his conduct was never so
blameable, and that his abilities are not so deficient,
as to warrant his permanent exclusion from power, or
to offer the slightest excuse or pretext for extinguishing
the tributary State.

But I have not written the following pages as an
apologist or an advocate for the Rajah of Mysore. I do
not plead for the Rajah’s personal advantage and dig-
nity, I plead for the advantage and elevation of his
people, and of the people of India, and for the general
good of the British Empire.
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For Lord Canning’s public character I have the
profoundest respect ; no one can estimate more highly
than I do the great services he rendered to the Empire
by the matchless courage, the sagacity, self-control, and
self-contained steadfastness of purpose which he so
signally manifested throughout the perils and horrors of
1857 and 1858. In the pacification of Oude, and the
maintenance, modified by law, of its ancient baronial
institutions, the extension of similar privileges to the
great landholders of other Provinces, and in the resto-
rative operations on the Punjaub settlement, I recog-
nise the statesman of large heart and broad intellect.
But Lord Canning lived and died a public man; his
acts are public property, and so long as they entail im-
portant consequences on the nation, they form a legiti-
mate subject for comment and discussion, until, in the
course of time, they become matters for history.

With great reluctance and regret, therefore, but
without hesitation or reserve, I shall have to call atten-
tion to that part in the treatment of this exceptional
case of Mysore, in which Lord Canning, misled by its
superficial temptations, appears to me to have deviated
from the direct path of justice and good faith, to have
raised unfounded claims by the novel process of an
eternal right of conquest, and a latent Supreme Sove-
reignty, and to have launched our Government upon
an aggressive course, which cannot be justified or
defended, but from which it is difficult to recede.

The truth is that Lord Canning, in his treatment
of the Mysore case, was not pursuing a policy .of
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his own choosing, but dealing with the practical results
of his predecessors’ policy, results which were decidedly
good, so far as they went, and the permanence of which
seemed to him, and was declared by his professional
advisers—erroneously as I maintain—to depend on a
strict persistence in the administrative sequestration of
the Mysore Principality. That his mind was not clear
or composed on this subject is, I think, manifest, not
only from his declaring it was *“ an exceptional case,”
but from the slight aberrations of logic and of temper
into which he was betrayed in his correspondence both
with the Rajah and with the Secretary of State. Bat
on these points my readers will be able to judge for
themselves.

I will yield to no one in the admiration I feel for
those eminent men in the Indian Services, whose
achievements in days of war and convulsion, and whose
earnest labours in the time of peaceful organisation,
have conferred so many blessings upon India. Let the
fullest meed of honour and gratitude be awarded to
our great Indian administrators—but let them be con-
fined to their own sphere. The field of Indian admin-
istration is the very worst training-ground for Indian
government. I do not say that it is absolutely impos-
sible for a Collector or a Resident to rise above the
small successes of his official career to broad views of
Tmperial policy; but I certainly think it is highly
improbable. The exceptions, though brilliant, have
been very few. I think, moreover, that in the present
day, the work and associations of an Indian administra-
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tor are even less likely to inspire him with enlarged and
tolerant principles, and more likely to fill his mind with
narrow technicalities and contemptuous prejudices, than
they were forty or fifty years ago. Native States were
then substantive Powers in India; native Princes and
Ministers were looked upon as worthy opponents or
coadjutors.

I must confess to considerable distrust and dread
of a purely professional Government,—composed of
members of a close official guild,—untempered by a
well-defined Imperial policy, unmitigated by the pre-
sence of a British statesman as Viceroy, unwatched by
Parliament, unmindful of popular feelings. The pro-
fessional ruler must wmagnify his office; to him it
always appears an incontrovertible position, that
“whate’er is best administered is best,”—an opinion
which is probably entertained by a great many people
in Great Britain, with reference to India, but which
seems to me to be opposed to the first principles of
modern politics, and to be fraught with infinite mis-
chief. However strong, however well administered, the
Government of India may be, it is not, and never will
be so strong, and so well administered, as to be able to
trust to physical force and organised establishments,
and to dispense with moral superiority.

But, it may be said, there are certain facts that can-
not be denied—they speak for themselves; the results
of British administration are beneficial, the revenue and
trade of India are increasing, the people are contented
and prosperous. Noone can assert more strongly than



viii PREFACE.

I do that British rule has conferred and is conferring
the greatest benefits upon India. I object to the pro-
gress of annexation and uniformity, because it neutralises
and debases those benefits, and endangers the stability of
our reforming operations. I admit thatin most provinces
of India the people are in a thriving and improving
condition. But that the population in general, or the
reflecting and influential classes in particular, are polit-
ically contented, indifferent or apathetic, I must dis-
tinctly deny.

It does not follow as a matter of course, that a period
of material prosperity is always a period of political
tranquillity. Jeshurun waxed fat and kicked. %

Nor does it follow as a matter of course, that a period
of material prosperity is to last for ever. Because we
dare not predict disaster, do not you presumptuously
prophesy smooth things. Twenty years, thirty years,
fill up a small space in history, form but a brief term in
the life of a nation. Can we not look forward so far?
We may have goods laid up in store for many years;
we may eat, drink, and be merry, but the day may come
—a day of reckoning for our stewardship—when a soul
shall be required of us; and it may then be found that
there is no soul in our Indian Empire, but that it is
possessed of a devil.
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THE MYSORE REVERSION,

AN “ EXCEPTIONAL CASE.”

CHAPTER 1.

THE REVIVAL OF ANNEXATION.

% We hereby announce to the Native Princes of India that all Treaties
and Engagements made with them by or under the authority of the
Honourable East India Company, are by Us accepted, and will be scru-
pulously maintained ; and We look for the like observance on their part.

“ We desire no extension of Our present territorial possessions; and,
while we will permit no aggression upon Our dominions or Our rights
to be attempted with impunity, We shall sanction no encroachment on
those of others. We shall respect the rights, dignity, and honour of
Native Princes as Our own; and we desire that they, as well as Qur
subjects, should enjoy that prosperity and that social advancement
which can only be secured by internal peace and good government.”
—ProcrLamarioN BY THE QUEEN IN CouxciL To THE PRINCES, CHIEFS,
AND ProPLE oF INDIA, 1st November, 1858.

Four years ago, about the time when Lord Canning’s impor-
tant despatch of the 30th April, 1860, on the right of Adoption
by native Princes, was published, it did really seem as if the
era of annexation in India was closed. The unequivocal and
weighty assurances of Her Majesty’s Proclamation were hailed
as the Magna Charta of the minor States. And even those
unconverted and unrepentant officials—some of them men of
great merit and ability, such as the late General Sir Mark
Cubbon—who deplored that solemn and public statement of
principles, declared that its pledges must be scrupulously re-
spected, that its Royal origin forbade all tampering with its
terms, and that it constituted an absolute bar to any further
territorial acquisitions, except by open war.

During the perilous crisis of 1857, the most serviceable and
timely aid in men and money was furnished by every class of
native rulers, by independent allies, by protected tributaries,
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and by feudatory chieftains ; but the value of this material aid
was far exceeded by the moral effect of their firm and loyal
adherence. Lord Canning then learned to admit—to make use
of his own words—that * the safety of our rule is increased, not
diminished, by the maintenance of Native Chiefs well affected
to us. Setting aside,” he continues, ¢ the well-known services
rendered by Scindia, and subsequently by the Maharajahs of
Rewa, Chirkaree, and others, over the wide tract of Central
India, where our authority is most broken in upon by Native
States, I venture to say that there is no man who remembers
the condition of Upper India in 1857 and 1858, and who is not
thankful that in the centre of the large and compact British
province of Rohilcund there remained the solitary little State of
Rampoor, still administered by its own Mahomedan Prince, and
that on the borders of the Punjaub and of the districts above
Delhi, the Chief of Puttiala and his kinsmen still retained their
hereditary authority unimpaired. In the time of which I speak,
these patches of Native Government served as breakwaters to
the storm which would otherwise have swept over us in one
great wave.””¥

The natural result of this conspicuous and practical refuta-
tion of all Lord Dalhousie’s doctrines as to the impotence,
hostility, and uselessness to the Empire of the Native States,
was a salutary yeaction in their favour. Cessions in full sove-
reignty, not only of confiscated estates but of British territory,
which two years before would have been looked on as an im-
possible contingency, were made to several Native Princes as
rewards for their inestimable aid. Two successive Secretaries
of State, Lord Stanley and Sir Charles Wood, evinced the most
liberal intentions towards our dependent allies and tributaries ;
both of them insisted on the gestoration of Dhar, contrary to
the advice of the °‘experienced political officer,” Colonel
Durand, who had unfortunately been allowed by Lord Canning
to lead him astray on this point, and whe, as Foreign Secretary
at Calcutta, still contrives to resist the restoration; and both of
them, in reviewing some of the worst political cases, took some
imperfect steps towards restitution and compensation.

* Despatch to the Secretary of State, No. 43a, dated Simla, the 30th
April, 1860, paragraph 34. Appendix A.
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Sir Charles Wood, in his reply of the 26th of July, 1860,
cordially agrees with Lord Canning’s despatch from which I
have just quoted, and says:—*“ In the sentiments expressed in
your Excellency’s letter of the 80th of April I entirely concur.
It is not by the extension of our Empire that its permanence is
to be secured, but by the character of British rule in the terri-
tories already committed to our care, and by practically demon-
strating that we are as willing to respect the rights of others as
we are capable of maintaining our own.”

I shall have to show that if the declared intentions of the
present Calcutta authorities with regard to Mysore are allowed
to be realised, it will be a practical demonstration that we are
not willing to respect the rights of others, that we are resolved
to treat with contempt the rights of the Rajah of Mysore, the
rights of our Ally the Nizam, the feelings and interests of the
people of Mysore, and of the Princes and people of all India.

In short, the grand and terrible events of 1857 did rouse
the nation, the statesmen of Great Britain, the rulers of India,
to something like enthusiasm, and under its influence—and in
spite of the irresistible exasperation of the hour —many noble
principles were avowed, some of which were embodied in the
Royal Proclamation, and in other official documents. But the
excitement soon died away, upon the restoration of order.
‘When none but financial difficulties remained, and when even
these were surmounted, the season of self-complacent apathy
set in once more. And now, in this time of our wealth,
security and pride, there is a manifest tendency to depreciate
our obligations to the native Princes, and to renew pretensions
which, it may be said, have never been abandoned except by
way of grace and favour.

Almost every statesman of eminence, of all parties and in
both Houses of Parliament, sought for occasions during the
Sessions of 1857 and 1858, to condemn emphatically the policy
of annexation ; one and all concurred in attributing the rebellion
in a great measure to the bad spirit which that policy had
created. Even so late as the 4th of August last, Lord Stanley
made use of the following words in a speech before the Liver-
pool Chamber of Commerce :— This he might say, théy had

never had an abler Governor-General, or an admini?{ntion at
°
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Calcutta more thoroughly peaceable in its intentions, or with a
more fixed determination not to carry on that policy of annex-
ation of which so much was heard fifteen years ago.”

But it will be my painful task to show that the present
Governor General and the present administration at Calcutta
are actually engaged in carrying on that same policy of annex-
ation, that they are carrying it on by the discarded and dis-
credited process of ignoring an adoption, that was so cruelly
exercised in Lord Dalhousie’s time, and that this process now
menaces the most friendly, the most tractable, the most orderly,
and to us the most profitable native State that still exists in
India.

Lord Canning recommended his measures in 1860, for secur-
ing to every Chief above the rank of a Jaghiredar the right of
adopting a successor, according to the Hindoo law, because,
said he, it will “*show at once, and for ever, that we are not
lying in wait for opportunities of absorbing territory, and that
we do deliberately desire to keep alive a fcudal aristocracy
where one still exists.”® ¢ And,” he added, in that same
despatch, “should the day come when India shall be threatened
by an external enemy, or when the interests of England else-
where may require that her Eastern Empire shall incur more
than ordinary risk, one of our best main-stays will be found in
these native States. But to make them so, we must treat their
Chiefs and influential families with consideration and generosity,
teaching them that, in spite of all suspicions to the contrary,
their independence is safe, that we are not waiting for plausible
opportunities to convert their country into British territory, and
convincing them that they have nothing to gain by helping to
displace us in favour of any new rulers from within or from
without.”

But I shall prove that we are now “ lying in wait” for “a
plausible opportunity® to absorb territory to which we have no
manner of claim or title whatever; that when Lord Canning
penned those lines he was, with strange inconsistency and in-
stability of purpose, himself “lying in wait” for that same
territory, and was preparing a lurking-place for himself or his
successor by an inexplicit reservation in that very despatch;

* Paragraph 26. Appendix A,
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that, through his ill-advised contrivance, the British Govern-
ment is now visibly “ lying in wait” until the death of the
Rajah of Mysore, who has passed the age of three score years
and ten, to pounce upon that Principality without a shadow of
right or justice.

Among the distinguished officers who, under the Governor
General’s instructions, negotiated the Treaties of 1799 with
the representatives of the Rajah of Mysore and the Nizam,
there was one great man, then known as Colonel Arthur Wel-
lesley, who foresaw that a measure of resumption might be
planned at some future period, 4nd warned his brother, Lord
Mornington, in the following emphatic terms, to provide against
the possibility of such a breach of faith :—

¢Colonel Kirkpatrick will have written to you yesterday respecting
the 6th Article of the Subsidiary Treaty. We all agreed that that
ought to be modified in some manner. As it now stands, it will
give ground for the belief that we give the Rajah the country at the
present moment with the intention of taking it away again when it will
suit our convenience. Supposing that the candid and generous policy of
the present Government should weaken that belief as far as it regards
them, it must be allowed that the conduct of the British Government
in India has not at all times been such as to induce the natives to
believe that at some time or other improper advantage will not be
taken of that Article. They khow as well as we do that there may
be a change of government immediately, and that there certainly will
be one in the course of a few years, and the person then appointed
Governor General may not have such enlarged systems of policy as
those by which we are regulated at the present moment. This
induces me to believe, that they will object strongly to that Article,
and I don’t think that it will be very creditable to us to insist
upon it.”’*

The Governor General did insist upon that Article; an
improper advantage was taken of that Article; in the course

of years the candid and generous policy of Government did
become weakened ; and in the present day the intention is too

* Wellington’s Supplementary Despatches, vol. i, p. 244. This letter
was written before the I'reaty was concluded; and the Article which is here
ealled “the 6th” can only be Article 1v. The discrepancy may be due to a
subsequent alteration of the draft, or perhaps to some clerical or typo-
graphical confusion between * 1v"* and * v1",
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clearly manifested of taking away the country of Mysore,
because it is supposed to suit our convenience.

The ultimate disposal of the Mysore territories at the demise
of the reigning Rajah, will probably, and may very reasonably
be made to depend upon the answers that are finally given to
the following three questions :—

1. Has THE BriTIsH GOVERNMENT ANY RIGHT TO ANNEX
THOSE TERRITORIES ?

2. WoULD THE ANNEXATION BE BENEFICIAL TO THE PEOPLE
oF Mysore?

8. WoULD THE ANNEXATION BE ADVANTAGEOUS TO THE
BriTiseE EMrire?

I presume that our Government would at present answer
these questions in the affirmative. I shall endeavour to show
that all three questions ought to be met with an absolute
negative. I hope to produce a conviction so decided of the
injustice, impolicy, and imprudence of the meditated annexa-
tion, as may lead to some decided action in the Cabinet or in
Parliament, and may once more place the Home authorities in
distinct antagonism to that policy of bad faith and disguised
rapacity by which, during the last twenty years, the officials
of Calcutta have destroyed the fair fame of Great Britain in the
East, and undermined the foundations of our Indian Empire.



CHAPTER IIL
MYSORE FROM 1799 TO 1856.

AsBout four centuries ago two brothers of that tribe of Yedava
Rajpoots, to which Krishna, the deified hero of Dwarka in
Guzerat, is said to have belonged, left the great Hindoo capital
of Beejanuggur, and travelled South in search of adventures.
One of them is said to have married, under very romantic
circumstances, the daughter of a wealthy landholder in the
neighbourhood of Seringapatam, whose Canarese title of
Wadiyar, or Lord, adopted by his son-in-law, when he suc-
ceeded to the estate, became the hereditary distinction of their
descendants. Such is the origin of the Rajahs of Mysore,
according to the annals of their court poets and genealogists.

For many years the Wadiyars extended their possessions
by subduing the neighbouring chieftains; they assumed the
title of Rajah, but paid tribute and homage to Beejanuggur.
But from the subversion of that last great Hindoo State, in
1564, by the four Mahomedan Kings of Dowlutabad, Beeja-
poor, Golconda, and Beder, the Mysore Rajahs may be con-
sidered as independent Princes. One of them commenced to
coin money in his own name in the year 1654 ; and another,
during the reign of the Mogul Emperor Aurungzeb, claimed
and established the right of sitting on an ivory throne. The
Mysore State, though sometimes reduced to ceremonial
homage, and to the payment of ransom or tribute, always
maintained . its autonomy against the successive pretensions of
the Mahomedan Kings of Beejapoor, the Mahrattas, and the
Nizam ; and enlarged its boundaries during the political con-
vulsions attending the fall of the Mogul Empire, which altered
the whole political aspect of the Deccan.

On the death of the Rajah Chick Deo Raj in 1731, his
successor, a minor, became a mere puppet in the hands of the
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Dalway, or hereditary Minister, a veritable Maire du Palais.
A succession of military and financial exigencies, with which
no one else was capable of dealing, at length threw all the
power of the State into the hands of the celebrated Hyder Ali,
who had commenced his career as a simple tropper. Hyder
Ali always kept up the form of annually presenting the captive
Rajah, as their Sovereign, to the assembled people at the
Dusserah festival, while he took the place himself of Com-
mander-in-chief and Minister; but after the first few years of
his son’s reign this custom was discontinued by Tippoo, who
himself assumed all the style and emblems of royalty, to which
his father had never pretended.

Counting from the final ruin of Hyder’s patron and rival,
the Hindoo minister, Nunjeraj, in 1761, to the death of
Tippoo Sultan in the storm of his great stronghold, in 1799,
the Mussulman ascendancy in Mysore only lasted for thirty-
eight years.

Lord Wellesley’s first plan- after Seringapatam was taken,
was that of recognising one of Tippoo’s sons; but he was
deterred from this settlement chiefly by considerations of
British interests, and a dread of French influence, and partly,
also, by a regard for the ‘““antiquity” of the Hindoo royal
family’s ¢ legitimate title.”” He writes to Dundas, the 7th of
June, 1799 :—=¢ It would certainly have been desirable that the
power should have been placed in the hands of one of Tippoo’s
sons; but the hereditary and intimate connection established
between Tippoo and the French, the probability that the
French may be enabled to maintain themselves in Egypt, and
the perpetual interest which Tippoo’s family must feel to
undermine and subvert a system which had so much reduced
their patrimony and power, precluded the possibility of re-
storing any branch of the family of the late Sultan to the
throne, without exposing us to the constant hazard of internal
commotion, and even of foreign war.”*

Sound policy thus forbidding the maintenance of the House
of Tippoo, the Governor General naturally turned to the re-
presentative of the royal family of Mysore, whose rights had
been usurped by Hyder Ali. ““Between the British Govern-

* Wellesley’s Despatches, vol. ii, p. 36.

A
AN
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ment and this family,” writes Lord Wellesley to the Court of
Directors on the 3rd of August, 1799, “an intercourse of
friendship and kindness had subsisted in the most desperate
crisis of their adverse fortunes.”” Lord Wellesley here alludes
to the negotiations carried on in 1782 with the agents of Sham
Raj, father of the present Rajah, which resulted in a Treaty of
alliance, ratified by the Government of Madras on the 27th of
November in that year; in consequence of which the Hindoo
Prince’s flag was hoisted on the walls of Caroor, when that fort
was taken, on the 2nd of April, 1783, by Colonel Lang. The
conspiracy of the Rajah’s adherents in Mysore, which led to
these negotiations, was, however, discovered and crushed by
Tippoo; and in 1783 the Honourable Company made peace
with the Sultan, and in the next year concluded a Treaty with
him.* ¢ They had formed,” continues Lord Wellesley, “no
connection with your enemies. Their elevation would be the
spontaneous act of your generosity, and from your support
alone could they ever hope to be maintained upon the throne,
either against the family of Tippoo Sultan, or against any other
claimant. They must naturally view with an eye of jealousy
all the friends of the usurping family, and consequently be
adverse to the French, or to any other State connected with
that family in its hereditary hatred of the British Government.”

““In addition to these motives of policy, moral considerations
and sentiments of generosity and humanity, favoured the
restoration of the ancient family of Mysore. Their high birth,
the antiquity of their legitimate title, and their long and un-
merited sufferings, rendered them peculiar objects of com-
passion and respect; nor could it be doubted that their
government would be both more acceptable and more indulgent
than that of the Mahomedan usurpers, to the mass of the inha-
bitants of the country, composed almost entirely of Hindoos.”+

And his instructions to the Commissioners appointed by him
for the settlement of Mysore affairs were to the same effect :—

““The restoration of the representative of the ancient family
of the Rajahs of Mysore, accompanied by a partition of ter-

* Historical Sketches of Sowthern India and Mysore, by Colonel Mark
“Wilks, 1817, vol. ii, p. 488-500.
+ Wellesley’s Despatches, vol. ii, p. 81-82.
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ritory between the Allies, in which the interests of the Mah-
rattas should be conciliated, appearing to me, under all the
circumstances of the case, to be the most advisable basis on
which any new settlement of the country can be vested, I have
resolved to frame without delay a plan founded on these prin-
ciples.”*

I have already quoted a passage in which Lord Wellesley
describes the recognition of the Hindoo Prince as ““an act of
spontaneous generosity.” This was the fundamental principle
upon which that great statesman, most justly and judiciously,
based the whole transaction-as between the allied powers and
the Mysore family :—

“From the justice and success of the late war with Tippoo
Sultan,” he writes to the Court of Directors, ‘“the Company
and the Nizam derived an undoubted right to the disposal of
the dominions conquered by their united arms. The right
of conquest entitled the Company and the Nizam to retain
the whole territory in their own hands; the cession of it to
any other party might be a consideration of policy or humanity,
but could not be claimed on any ground of justice or right.”

“A lineal descendant of the ancient House of the Rajahs of
Mysore still remained at Seringapatam; but whatever might
be the hopes of his family from the moderation and humanity
of the conquerors, this young Prince could assert no right to
any share of the conquered territory.”+

The investiture of the Rajah with the character of a Sovereign
was deliberately treated by Lord Wellesley, not as the restora-
tion of an old Government and dynasty, but as the creation of
a new one. It appears from his letter of the 7th of June, 1799,
that according to the original draft of the Tr the whole of
the conquered territories were to be considered as the Rajah’s
dominions, and the provinces to be retained by the Allies
were to be accepted by them as if they were ceded by the
Hindoo Sovereign. To this process the Governor General
objected. I think,” said he, *‘ the whole transaction would
be more conveniently thrown into a different form from that
which you have given to it. I do not see any mnecessity for
ceding the whole country, in the first instance, to the Rajah of

* Wellesley’s Despatches vol. ii, p. 19. + 1bid., vol. ii, p. 78.
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Mysore, and accepting again as a cession under his authority
such districts as must be retained by the Allies. I think it
will be more convenient, and less liable to future embarrass-
ment, to rest the whole settlement upon the basis of our right
of conquest, and thus to render our cession the source of the
Rajah’s dominion. For this purpose the proceeding should
commence with a Treaty between the Nizam and the Com-
pany.” *

But while Lord Wellesley thus upheld, on behalf of the
"Allies, their right of disposing of all the conquered territories,
and did dispose of them in such a manner, and in such recorded
terms, as should be a perpetual acknowledgment of the Rajah’s
obligations, and a perpetual bar to the revival of any pre-
tensions to the sovereignty of the districts allotted to the
Company and the Nizam, he intimated no design of depressing
the restored Prince into an insignificant and insecure position.
On the contrary, he was avowedly desirous to welcome the
Sovereign of Mysore as a distinct and additional power in
India, pledged to the reciprocal recognition and defence of our
titles and possessions, for he instructs the Commissioners that
“the Rajah, after his accession, may be made a party to the
general guarantee.”t

The infant Rajah’s elevation was opposed at the time by
several of Lord Wellesley’s advisers, and by none more than
by Sir Thomas Munro, who held that we should divide between
ourselves and our sole Ally, the Nizam, the whole of the con-
quered districts. But all objections were overruled ; a sepa-
rate government for Mysore was constituted; Poorniah, the
able Brahmin who had been Tippoo’s chief officer of finance,
was appointedJPrime Minister, and for eleven years managed
the country with great skill and success, so far as relates to
the augmentation and collection of the revenue.

Poorniah was a clever” financial officer, and would have been
invaluable as a Sheristadar, or manager, to one of the by-gone
type of “crack” Collectors who, in the first twenty years of
this century, gained an ephemeral reputation by putting on
the screw in certain districts of the Madras Presidency and
the North West Provinces. He had practised his art in &

* Wellesley's Despatches, vol. ii, p. 26. + Ibid.
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severe school. During the last seven years of Tippoo’s reign,
when the Sultan obstinately insisted on keeping up enormous
military establishments on a revenue reduced by Lord Corn-
wallis’s Partition to one half of its former amount, Poorniah
was driven to exercise his greatest dexterity in squeezing the
unfortunate population. And until the end of the year 1804
the demands of the Honourable Company on the Government
of Mysore, under Article III. of the Treaty, for its contribu-
tion ‘“towards the increased expenses’ of the war with the
Mahrattas, seem to have precluded any mitigation of the
pnblic burdens. During Poorniah’s administration the pres-
sure was neyer relaxed. No imputation seems ever to have
been cast upon his personal integrity, and when, in the year
1811, he was compelled to resign his authority, he left a sum
of hard cash in the Treasury exceeding two millions sterling.
This fund was not, however, entirely due to savings from the
public income, but was swelled by the gradual sale of vast
stores of sandal-wood—the special produce of Mysore and
monopolised by the Government—and of other superfluous
stock and materials which had been heaped up in every de-
partment during the reign of Tippoo. The people did not
prosper under Poorniah’s rule, and little or nothing was done
by him in the way of public improvement. Sir Mark Cubbon,
in his Report to Government, as Commissioner of Mysore in
1854, alludes to the accumulated treasure ‘° which the dubious
policy of Poorniah had wrung from-the people.” .

After the departure of Sir John Malcolm, the first Resident at
Mysore, in 1804, Poorniah was left to pursue his own .plans,
in possession of undivided authority, undisturbed and unin-
structed by the Government of Madras, or their representative
the Resident. The young Rajah was left to the enlightened
tuition of his mother, his grandmother, and the other ladies of
the harem.

It has unfortunately never formed a feature in our scheme of
foreign policy in India—what is called at Calcutta our system of
political agency—to raise the character of the feudatory and
tributary Princes by early education and guidance; but there
‘has rather been a too manifest tendency ‘to give them rope

\{mgh to hang themselves”—to let them, in youth and in age,
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go to the bad their own way; and then to step in and make a
clean sweep of everything. We seem never to have perceived
that any intermediate course was open to us between utter
neglect and wholesale supersession. The patient instruction of
native Princes and statesmen, the tolerant reform of local insti-
tutions, present too narrow a field of power and patronage to
be attractive to our eastern officials. This systematic negligence,
in its most culpable form, characterised the dealings of the
Madras Government with the pupil State committed to their
charge by Lord Wellesley’s arrangements.

From 1799 till 1832, with a very brief interval, the British
Resident at the Court of Mysore was in direct, communica-
tion only with the Madras authorities, from whom he received
his instructions; while the Madras Government reported its
proceedings to the Supreme Government in Bengal. The
plan never seems to have worked well. The authority was
wrongly placed, the responsibility was too much divided. The
Duke of Wellington—then General Wellesley—in a letter to
Major Shawe, dated the 14th of January, 1804, gives us the
strong opinion on this subject of a very shrewd observer of men
and manners who had had the best and latest opportunities of
forming a judgment, and affords us another instance of his re-
markable foresight as to the course of Mysore affairs.

“In respect to Mysore,” says he, “I recommend that a
gentleman from the Bengal Civil Service shall be Malcolm’s
successor there. The Government of that country should be
placed under the immediate protection and superintendence of
the Governor-General in Council. The Governors of Fort
St. George ought to have no more to do with the Rajah than
they have with the Souba of the Deccan” (the Nizam) “or the
Peishwa. The consequence of the continuance of the present
system will be that the Rajah’s Government will be destroyed
by corruption, or, if they should not be corrupt, by calumny.*
I know no person, either civil or military, at Fort St. George,
who would set his face against the first evil, or who has strength
of character or talents to defend the Government” (meaning
clearly the Mysore Government) *‘ against the second. In my

# Only those who know some of the secrets of the  political” system in
India, will appreciate the full force and significance of this predictyn.
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opinion the only remedy is to take the Rajah under the wing
of the Governor General; and this can be done effectually only
by appointing as Resident a gentleman of the Bengal Civil
Service, and by directing him to correspond only with the
Governor General.”*

This advice was acted on for a short period ; but soon after
the departure of Sir John Malcolm’s successor, Colonel Mark
Wilks, the Resident was replaced in direct subordination to
the Government of Madras, and, under their instructions, con-
tinued down to the year 1832, to carry out that policy of
masterly indifference to Mysore affairs —so long as the Subsidy
was paid—that was best calculated, whether it was so intended
or not, to lead to the Rajah’s ruin, and to augment the power
and patronage of the Governor of Madras. And at Calcutta
the salutary principles of control relied upon by Lord Wellesley
seem to have been completely forgotten.

The most striking and critical instance of this cruel neglect
—that to which all the subsequent disorders must be attributed
—occurred in December 1811, when, after an unavailing
struggle against the intrigues of the Palace party, Poorniah
was finally deprived of power, and the Rajah, now sixteen
years old, proclaimed his own majority and took the govern-
ment into his own hands.

Lord Dalhousie, in a Minute dated the 16th of January, 1856,
from which I shall have to quote at greater length further on,
says that the Rajah’s ““rule was scandalously and hopelessly
bad, though he commenced it under every advantage.” But
what is the fact? Where ought the responsibility for the mis-
rule of Mysore really to fall? The British Government, en-
titled by Article X1V of the Subsidiary Treaty to impose its
authoritative advice in any matters connected with * his High-
ness’s interests, the economy of his finances, and the happiness
of his people”—aunthorised also by Article IV of the same
Treaty, “to introduce such regulations and ordinances as might
be deemed expedient for the better ordering of any branch or
department of the Mysore Government”t—Ilooked on with
apparent unconcern while the Regency of its own institution
was pulled to the ground; demanded no securities, imposed no

* Wellington Despatches, vol. ii, p. 668. + Appendix B.
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authoritative advice, introduced no ordinances, but allowed a
boy of sixteen to declare himself of age, and to seize upon abso-
lute power. Yet Lord Dalhousie says that the Rajah com-
menced his rule * under every advantage!”

From the first year of the young Rajah’s personal rule, the
condition of Mysore gradually and steadily deteriorated ; occa-
sional remonstrances were addressed to the native Court by the
Resident and by the Government of Madras, but no efficient
means were applied to improve the administration. In the
year 1825, Sir Thomas Munro, then Governor of Madras,
visited Mysore, and warned the Rajah in terms which are de-
scribed as follows in a Minute which the Governor wrote im-
mediately after the interview :—*“ I concluded by saying that
the disorder of the Rajah’s affairs had reached such a height as
would justify the Government in acting upon the Fourth
Article of the Treaty ; but that as a direct interference in the
administration, or the assumption for a time of part of the
Mysore territory, could not be undertaken without lessening
the dignity of his Highness, and shaking his authority in such
a manner that it would be impracticable ever to reestablish it,
I was unwilling to adopt such a course until the last extremity,
and wished to give him an opportunity of restoring order him-
self. But if reform were not immediately begun, direct inter-
ference would be unavoidable.”

The plan of persistently abstaining from active remedies,
until the disease became inflammatory and dangerous, although
maintained by so eminent an authority as Sir Thomas Munro,
will, I think, be pronounced erroneous, even on his own show-
ing, without appealing to its actual effects. Surely it would
not have ‘ lessened the dignity of his Highness,” or *“ shaken
his authority,” if certain ‘‘ordinances,” dictated by the Governor
of Madras under the powers conferred on him by Articles IV
and XIV of the Treaty, had been issued by the Rajah in his
own name and as his own act, and if the due execution of those
ordinances had been referred to the Resident’s close supervi-
sion, and secured by the appointment of a trustworthy Minister.
But no such step was taken ; no ordinances or regulations were
imposed upon the Rajah; no specific plan of reform was laid
down ; the Governor of Madras took his leave, and the Rajah
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was once more left to his own devices. The result was what
might have been confidently predicted. Those who flattered
and fleeced the young Prince considered the Governor’s inaction
to have conferred upon them a fresh lease and a new license.
Matters went on from bad to worse.

On the death of Sir Thomas Munro in 1827, the conduct of
Madras affairs fell for some years into the hands of certain
Madras Civilians of what may be called the transition school,

f' intermediate between the corruption of 1800 and the purity of
1864. Since the days of Paul Benfield—* whose offal,” as
Burke said, “ should have fed the region kites—the salaries of
civil appointments had been immensely raised. Jobbery had '
succeeded to bribery. It was perfectly notorious that the
officials who ruled the Madras Secretariat about the year 1830,
already looked upon Mysore as given over to them as a prey.
A Madras Civilian, a near relative of the Governor’s, was
{nominated in petto to be either British Commissioner of Mysore
or Resident with full powers, assisted by a native Devan of his
own choosing, as might be found most convenient when the time
came. The Rajah was not to be disturbed or frightened any
more until he had sufficiently committed himself. The Resident
was not to insist on the redress of grievances, or to encourage
complaints, until some fearful oppression, some impending
disaster, or the stoppage of the Subsidy, should afford a good
pretext for putting the Rajah on the shelf. Vague rumours of
the expectant and passive hostility of the Madras Government
spread over the Principality, and unquestionably contributed
to excite the subsequent rebellion ; for it is recorded in the
Report of Lord William Bentinck’s Special Committee on the
insurrection, that a belief was universally prevalent among the
ryots of Mysore that their opposition to the Rajah’s authority
was viewed with complacency by the Honourable Company’s
Government !*

The crisis rapidly advanced after Sir Thomas Munro’s abor-
tive visit. The vast hoards of Poorniah’s administration had
entirely disappeared in the first fifteen years of the Rajah’s
accession to power. Funds were at last required to sustain the

* Report of the Special Committee, dated the 12th of December, 1833,
paragraph 199, and other places.
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extravagant scale of expenditure that had become habitual;
the usual course was taken; the land assessment and other
taxes were raised in those districts where they had hitherto
been most moderate; the ryots were harassed and oppressed by
the new exactions, and in the year 1830 the North-Western pro-
vince of Nuggur was in open rebellion, and the disturbances
spread to other parts of the country. British troops promptly
quelled the revolt; but Sir Thomas Munro, who had died at
his post as Governor of Madras three years before, had left on
record his firm convictions that no good could come of the ad-
ministration of a Prince, against whose original elevation be
had protested. The strongly expressed opinion of such a man,
whose memory had been recently honoured with an official
canonisation, and whose views now appeared as fulfilled pre-
dictions, was irresistible, when used by his successor to support
his own proposal of superseding the Rajah’s authority. Accord-
ingly, Lord William Bentinck, who had become Governor-
General of India in 1828, acting on the exaggerated represent-
ations of the Madras Government, despatched to the Rajah an
intimation, couched in terms of great severity, that, under the
provisions of the Treaty of 1799, the British Government had
determined to take into its own hands the management of
Mysore. The letter was delivered by the British Resident.
His Highness surrendered his authority without any altercation
or resistance, and two Commissioners appointed by the Madras
Government were at once put in charge of all the departments
of the State; a Resident continuing, as beforgf to maintain at
the Rajah’s Court the semblance of diplomatic relations be-
tween the two sovereign powers.

That the eventual restoration of the country was intended
from the first by Lord William Bentinck, appears clearly, both
from his letter to the Rajah, in which he terms the assumption
of the government, ‘the course which the wisdom of the
Marquis Wellesley established for a crisis like the present;”
and also from the instructions given by him to the Governor of
Madras, that under the two Commissioners whom he originally
appointed, “ the agency should be exclusively native: indeed
that the existing native institutions should be carefully main-
tained.” And the Governor-General seems very soon to have

0 &
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perceived how little had hitherto been done on our side to in-
struct and guide the young ruler, and to avert the disorder in his
affairs, for early in 1832 he took the step that had been so strongly
urged by Sir Arthur Wellesley in 1804, relieved the Madras
Government from further interference in the administration of
Mysore, and placed it under the direct superintendence of the
Governor General in Council. Lord William Bentinck also
appointed a Special Committee (consisting of four eminent
Madras officials) to inquire generally into the state of
Miysore.

It is difficult to imagine any sufficient cause for the severe
measures against the Rajah adopted by the Supreme Govern-
ment. The mere fact of a local insurrection having broken
out, does not seem to justify the immediate degradation of the
Sovereign, nor does the mere fact of British troops having
been employed to quell that insurrection. 'We were bound to
employ that military force, which was amply subsidised by the
Rajah, for the maintenance of his rule, and for the suppression
of public disorder. Such an employment of our troops was
cle%y contemplated when the Treaty was concluded, and
could® net be considered as an extraordinary service or special
favour.* A petty revolt was no surprising or unheard-of
phenomenon in any part of India.

The summary substitution of direct British management
was a somewhat harsh and hasty remedy for any administrative
abuses or oppressici, when the Treaty gave us the power of
dictating and enforcing the acceptance of such  ordinances™
as might have removed all cause of offence.

But it must also be remarked that, according to the strict
letter of the Treaty (Article 1V), neither objections on our
part to the Rajah’s domestjg policy, nor the occurrence of a
revolt in his dominions, aﬂ’tded sufficient grounds for even

* Article x of the Subsidiary Treaty provides that ¢ in case it shall be-
come necessary, for enforcing and maintaining the authority of his Highness
in the territories now subjected to his power, that the regular troops of the
English East India Company Bahadoor should be employed, it is stipulated
and agreed, that upon formal application being made for the service ¢of the

¢ 8aid troops, they shall be employed in such manner as to the said Company
shall seem fit.”—Appendix B. .

* )
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his temporary supersession, unless the payment of our Subsidy
were endangered. Reasonable anxiety for the instalments of
the annual tribute, was the only cause laid down that could
sanction our interference, whether by imposing ordinances, or
by the open attachment of - districts.

And it must be further remarked that, according to the
strict letter of the Treaty (Article IV), when it should be
thought necessary to have recourse to this extreme measure,
we had no right to attach the whole of Mysore, but only “such
part or parts” as should be required to render the funds
of the State ¢ efficient and available either in time of peace

or war.”’*

Nor did these difficulties long escape the observation of
Lord William Bentinck. In a despatch to the Secret Com-
mittee of the Court of Directors, dated the 14th of April, 1834,

he writes as follows :—

¢ By the adoption of the arrangement which I advocate, certain
doubts will be removed which I cannot help entertaining, both as to
the legality and the justice, according to a strict interpretation, of the
course that has been pursued The Trealy warrants an assumption ,
of the country with a view to secure the payment of our Subsu
The assumption was actually made on account of the Rajah’s mis-
government. The Subsidy does not appear to have been in any
immediate jeopardy. Again the Treaty authorises us to assume such

* The whole Article stands as follows: “ And whereas it is indispensably
necessary that effectual and lasting security should be provided against
any failure in the fund destined to defray either the expenses of the per-
manent military force in time of peace, or the extraordinary expenses de-
scribed in the third Article of the present Treaty, it is hereby stipulated
and agreed between the contracting parties, that whenever the Governor-
General in Council shall have reason to apprehend such failure in the funds
8o destined, the said Governor-General in Council shall be at liberty, and
shall have full power and right, either to introduce such regulations and
ordinances as he shall deem expedient for the internal management and
collection of the revenues, or for the better ordering of any other branch
and department of the Government of Mysore, or to assume and bring
under the direct management of the servants of the said Company Bahadoor,
such part or parts of the territorial possessions of his Highness Maharajah
Mysore Kistna Rag&h Oodiaver Bahadoor, as shall appear to him, the said
Governor-General in Council, necessary to render the said funds eﬁcxent
and available, either in time of peace or war.”—Appendix B. /

c2 .
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f part or parts of the country as may be necessary to render the funds
which we claim efficient and available. The whole has been assumed,
although a part would unquestionably have sufficed for the purpose
specified in the Treaty; and with regard to the justice of the case, T
cannot but think that it would have been more fair towards the
Rajah had a more distinct and positive warning been given htm that
the decided measure since adopted, would be put in force, if mis-
government should be found to prevail.”

The arrangements which Lord William Bentinck advocated
in this despatch were, that the three districts of Nuggur,
Chitteldroog, and Bangalore—yielding an annual revenue
equal to the permanent claims of our Government for the Sub-
sidy, pensions, and the pay of 4000 Irregular Horse, which
the Mysore State was bound by treaty to maintain—should be
ceded to the Honourable Company, and that the remaining
three districts of Mysore, Ashtagram, and Munjeerabad, should
be restored to the Rajah’s direct rule.

The truth is, that by this time Lord William Bentinck had
begun to perceive, that the unqualified denunciations which
had inducéd him to shelve the Rajah, were by no means cor-
roborated by the detailed information laid before him by the
Special Committee of Inquiry. He felt that he had been
deceived and misled. He acknowledged his error, and he re-
gretted it to the last hour of his life. It is well known that
after his return to England, he repeatedly declared that the
supersession of the Rajah of Mysore was the only incident in
his Indian administration that he looked back upon with sor-
row. In the early part of 1834 Lord William visited Mysore,
received the Report from the hands of the Special Committee,
and had more than one interview with the Rajah. His High-
ness implored the Governor General to have pity on his fallen
condition, and especially challenged the closest research into
his own private conduct, and into the personal share he had
taken in the executive duties of the Principality.

The following extracts are taken from the Report of the
Special Committee, which is dated the 12th of December,
1833 :—

4 We do not, however, think that the decline of the revenue since
the time of Poorneah has been caused entirely by misgovernment.
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It appears to us to be partly attributable to causes which were
beyond the control of the Rajah’s Government. We allude to the
general fall which has taken place in the price of agricultural produce,
and also to changes which have occurred peculiarly affecting the
State of Mysore.

‘“The administration of Poorneah, though it was conducted with
energy and vigour, and filled the coffers of the State with treasure,
does not appear to us to have been attended with an augmentation of
the wealth of the people, but, indeed, with an opposite result; and
we will add, that we doubt whether, even if that Minister had con-
tinued to conduct the affairs of the country, the revenue could have
been maintained many years longer at the height to which it had been
raised.

¢¢It is worthy of remark that in some of the complaints of the peo-
ple, of the grievances they have been subjected to under the Rajah’s
Government, the period of Poorneah’s administration is included in
the general censure, without distinction from that of the Rajah’s
personal rule. One of the witnesses stated that the great body of the
ryots were in easy circumstances when Poorneah’s rule commenced,
but half of them were ruined when it closed.”

That the effect produced upon the Governor General’s mind
by his own local investigation, as well as by the Report of the
Special Committee, was not altogether unfavourable to the
Rajah, is manifest, not only from his having immediately ad-
dressed, from Mysore, that despatch to the Secret Committee,
already quoted, in which he recommends the Rajah’s restora-
tion to a more limited sphere of power, but more clearly and
explicitly, from the following expressions occurring in that
same despatch :(—

¢TIt is admitted by every one who has had an opportunity of ob-~
serving the character of the Rajah, that he is in the highest degree
intelligent and sensible. His disposition is described to be the reverse
of tyrannical or cruel, and I can have little doubt, from the manner
in which he has conducted himself in his present adverse circum-
stances, that he would not neglect to bring his good qualities into
active operation, and to show that he had not failed to benefit by the
lessons of experience. But lest this hope should be disappointed, the
means ought undoubtedly to be retained in our own hands of guard-
ing against the evil consequences of his misgovernment. The per-
sonal character of the Rajah has, I confess, materially weighed with
me in recommending the measure above alluded to. T believe he

/
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will make a good ruler in future, and T am certain that, whatever may
have been his past errors, he has never forgotten his obligations and
his duties to the Company’s Government.”

In March, 1835, Lord William Bentinck left India, and Sir
Charles (afterwards Lord) Metcalfe succeeded provisionally to
the office of Governor General, which he held for a year.
Shortly after his accession to the Government, he addressed a
letter to the Rajah of Mysore, dated the 6th of April, 1835, in
reply to one received fromhis Highness, in which the follow-
ing passage occurs :—

“My Friend, you appear to be disappointed because the expectation
held out to you by his Lordship, that the resolution relative to the
affairs of Mysore would reach this country from England by the close
of the past year, has not been fulfilled ; but you will readily admit
that the realisation of this expectation depended upon circumstances
wholly beyond his Lordship’s control. I sincerely hope, however,
that your mind will not be kept much longer in a state of suspense,
and that the decision of the Home Authorities may be conformable
with your inclination.”

Lord Metcalfe decidedly favoured the reestablishment of the
Hindoo Sovereign’s authority; and his deliberately recorded
opinion is extant that the supersession of the Rajah of Mysore
was a ‘““harsh and unprovoked” measure.*

At last the reply to Lord William Bentinck’s despatch of
the 14th of April, 1834, arrived from England. The Court of
Directors, in their letter, No. 45 of the 25th of September,
1835, distinctly declare their intention of retaining the charge
of Mysore only for the specific and temporary purpose of
establishing ““a fair assessment upon the ryots, with security
against further exaction, and a satisfactory system for the ad-
ministration of justice.”” They object entirely to tarnish the
prospective reinstatement of a Prince who ‘“had ever been,” as
they observe, *the attached friend of the British Govern-
ment,” by even that limited project of partition recommended

WLord William Bentinck. They object to the division of a
State, the separate integrity of which was guaranteed by the
Treaty with the Nizam. The doctrines of annexation were not
yet in vogue.

* This can be verified, if necessary, though I am not at present in pos-
session of & copy of the actual paper in which that term is used.
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After alluding, in severe terms, to the profuse and unbridled
extravagance which had been the main cause of the Rajah’s
difficulties and of the people’s distress, the Directors go on to
say :—

“We would not willingly, after having assumed the powers of
government, place the inhabitants of any portion of the territory,
hqwever small, under the absolute dominion of such a ruler, until we
had established a system which would afford security against the
vices of his character, till we had sefured protection to the people
against extortion, and afforded them the means for a legal redress for
their injuries; and if this desirable end can be attained, the same
reasons which served to recommend the restoration to the Rajah of a
portion of the country, will, in our opinion recommend the restoration
of the whole.”

And in giving their general suggestions as to the form and
principles of the government to be constructed for Mysore,
they say:—

“We are desirous of adhering, as far as can be done, to the native
usages, and not to introduce a system which cannot be worked here-
after by native agency when the country shall be restored to the
Rajah.”

It now became necessary to inform the Rajah that he was
not to expect the immediate restoration of any part of his
country; and, accordingly, on the 28th March, 1836, the new
Governor General, Lord Auckland, addressed a letter to his
Highness, in which he thus alludes to the instructions that
had been issued by the Court of Directors:—

“I hasten to announce to you that the propositions of Lord Wil-
liam Bentinck, of which you were informed by his Lordship’s letter
of the 14th May, 1834, have received the most attentive consideration
from the authorities in England, who have now directed me to com-
municate to you their decision in regard to them.

“The Honourable the Court of Directors have signified their com-
mands that the administration of your Highness’s territories shall
remain on its present footing until the arrangements for their good
government shall have been so firmly established as to be secure from
future disturbance.”

In reporting the delivery of the Governor-General’s letter to
his Highuess, the Resident at Mysore, in a despatch dated the
5th May 1836, observed :—
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¢ With regard to Lord William Bentinck’s propositions, which have
now been negatived by the Court, the Rajah declared that he never
would have *assented to them, had he not been told that, if he did
not, he would never get back any portion of his country. He, how-
ever, never expected the Court of Directors, if they gave him any
part, to limit it to a third of the dominions, which we had conferred
gratuitously upon him as a child: he expected his past conduct
would, on a consideration of the whole of it, have dictated a more
generous decision. In short, e thought it not improbable that or-
ders would have been issued for the removal of the Commission alto-
gether, the appointment of an efficient Dewan, who would manage
the country in concert with his Highness and in his name, but under
the superintendence of the British Resident.”

¢ With reference to that portion of his Lordship’s letter which
states that the administration in Mysore is to remain on its present
footing until the arrangements for its good government shall have
been so firmly established as to be secure from future disturbance, his
Highness asked who was to be the judge of when this period had
arrived?> Were the reports of the officers employed in the Commis-
sion to be the guide to the Government,—of those whose employ-
ment would be lost by the re-transfer of the country? And he con-
cluded this subject by asking how many years I thought it likely
would be deemed by Government as sufficient to afford just ground
for confidence that salutary rules and safeguards had been matured
and confirmed by practice, and when I thought it likely he might look
to receiving back the management of his country.”

These proceedings were duly reported to the Court of
Directors on the 81st of October 1836, but in their reply, No.
20, dated the 20th of September 1837, the Court gave no
further instructions on the subject of the restoration of the
territory. But that it still continued to be the intention of the
Home Government, to retain the direct management only as a
temporary measure, is apparent from a despatch of the Court
of Directors, No. 20, dated the 80th of October 1839, in which
they review the course taken for organising the administration
of Mysore, and observe with reference to certain orders direct-
ing the abolition of corporal punishment :—

¢ We think it unfortunate that a country like Mysore, which has so
recently come under our management; which we had it in view ulti-
mately to restore to a native Government, and for that reason avoided
any innovations inconsistent with the maxims and practices of the

-
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best native Governments, should have been made the subject of an
experiment so embarrassing,”

When the Commission for the Government of the Territories
of his Highness the Rajah of Mysore, was established in 1832,
Lord William Bentinck determined that the machinery of the
administration should be that of a native agency, and that ** the
existing native institutions should be carefully maintained.”
Two joint Commissioners were originally appointed, but they
did not work together harmoniously; and on the 5th of June
1834, Lieutenant-Colonel Cubbon, (afterwards General Sir
Mark Cubbon, X.C.B.) was appointed sole Commissioner, with
very large discretionary powers. And while the entire fabric
of native institutions was for many years preserved in out-
line, the original plan of governing by * an exclusively native
agency,” was very soon abandoned as impracticable, and Eng-
lish officers were introduced into all the higher appointments.
And though General Cubbon, with all his great abilities, was
not in any respect a man of broad and liberal mind, was of the
stiffest school with regard to distinctions of race and social
rank, and was no friend to educated natives, it must not be
overlooked that in the earlier stage of his operations there was
an influence at work, which rendered the exclusive employ-
ment of native agency, especially of the old incumbents, almost
impossible,—the opposing influence of the Rajah and his ad-
herents throughout the country Every innovation appeared
to them to be a new turn of the screw, securing the English
occupation, and making the restoration of the Rajah’s authority
more difficult and more unlikely. And, as we have just seen,
the Court of Directors in London had themselves started the
same class of objections. But the Rajah had an auxiliary more
near at hand in the person of the Resident, Major (afterwards
Major-General) Stokes, who, in his despatches to Government,
gave a general support to all his Highness’s demands. Be-
tween the Commissioner, one of Sir Thomas Munro’s disciples,
and the Resident, a friend and pupil of Lord Metcalfe, there
was a complete antagonism of opinions and feelings. Their
long continued official disputes were terminated in favour of
General Cubbon in 1843, when Lord Ellenborough was Go-
vernor General, by the post of Resident being abolished. This
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was at first felt by the Rajah as a great blow, but he learned to
acquiesce in its expediency. On the removal of the concurrent
authority from his Court, the Rajah was brought into closer
relations and more frequent communication with the Commis-
sioner, and they soon came to understand each other better.
The great advantages arising from General Cubbon’s excellent
administration, began to manifest themselves about this time,
in the increased revenue and trade of the country. In De-
ember 1847, the General finally reported to Government that
)’:hme differences between himself and the Rajah were at an end ;
and henceforth they continued to be on the most friendly
terms.

The Rajah again brought forward his claim to the restoration
of the country in a khureeta, or royal letter, to the Governor
General, Lord Hardinge, dated the 15th of February 1844, in
which, referring to certain measures that were in preparation
for the payment of his debts, he said :—

- ¢ When, in consequence of the mismanagement of treacherous
hirelings, and the influence of their evil counsels, the resources of my
country were found inadequate to defray its expenses; when those
financial embarrassments gave rise to many internal disquiets, the
British Government, to whom I was previously indebted for the
restoration of my throne and Kingdom, could not remain indifferent
spectators of this state of things: they interposed, not to wrest the
country from my hands, but to heal it of its disorders, and return it to
me in a healthy state. But as its principal disease, from which, as a
common source, all its other evils engendered, was its involved con-
dition, T saw the accomplishment of two distinct objects, namely, its
restoration to a prosperous state, and when thus restored, the approxi-
mation of, the prospect to myself of once more ruling my own country,
that hereditary patrimony bequeathed to me by my Sires, the Sove-
reigns of the soil, and the perpetuation of which has been guaranteed
for me by the Honourable Company, but of which I have been
deprived for the long space of twelve years, in consequence of my
misplaced confidence in unworthy hirelings. Hence, my Lord, this
desire on my part for the speedy liquidation of the public debts of my
country.”

In another letter, dated the 10th of April 1844, his Highness
thus pleads his cause :(— ‘

“] am now in the fifty-first year of my age; I have been relieved
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from the government of my own country for the last twelve years for
my misplaced confidence in unworthy servants; these twelve years
have been to me a season of the severest trials and afflictions; in this
school of adversity I have acquired lessons of true wisdom, which
remain legibly inscribed upon my heart by the fearful finger of expe-
rience ; and thus initiated and instructed, I am anxious of approach-
ing your Lordship as the Governor General of India, and by conse-
quence my Patron and Protector, seeking, through your Lordship, the
restoration to me of the government of my own country, of which I
have been temporarily relieved.”

About this time the Rajah’s importunate applications, and
the rumours of their probable success, created such a strong
interest, and excited so restless a spirit throughout Mysore,
that it was officially suggested to the Supreme Government to
remove his Highness from his own country, and place him in
the Fort of Vellore, in a position little removed from that of a
state-prisoner. This cruel proposition was totally disapproved
by Lord Hardinge; but before it had been negatived at Cal-
cutta it had reached the Rajah’s ears, and in an indignant
letter to the Governor General, dated the 9th of May 1844,
referring to the Treaty of 1799, and protesting against his re-
moval from Mysore, he writes as follows :—

‘ From these provisions your Lordship will perceive that the
British Government reserved to itself the right, under certain circom-
stances, to bring under the direct management of the servants of the
Company Bahadoor, ¢ part or parts’ of my country, &c.; but nothing
is said about the power to remove me from the country. At the time
of the assumption, my Lord, I did not solicit the trial of any miti-
gated measures of reform, but I readily consented to the extreme one
of the assumption of my country; nor did I, my Lord, claim the pri-
vilege of ceding only ¢ part or parts’ of it, but I as readily yielded the
whole. Thus, my Lord, have I conducted myself with grateful sub-
mission to the British Government, impressed by a lively sense of the
obligations conferred by them in the original restoration to me of my
country, in the full belief that, in the words of my Treaty, the British
Government will act towards me and my heirs, even ‘as long as the
sun and moon shall endure,’ as my Guardian and Patron; and in the
most anxious hope that they will, after making the necessary arrange-
ments for my future prosperity, return my country to me, whole and
entire, as I had committed it to their care.”

A formal application for the restoration of his territory was
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addressed by the Rajah to the Governor General, Lord Har-
dinge, on the Tth of September 1844. On the Tth of June
1845, the Maharajah wrote to complain that no reply had been
made to his last letter, and after defending his character from

misrepresentations, he observed :—

¢1 can call on those who now best know me to say whether at this
moment I am not, as to mental and physical vigour, as capable of
governing my country as any man of fifty years of age in India. I am
not aware that it has been attempted to show that any other reason
exists sufficient to render null the Honourable Company’s Treaty
with me, or to justify the withholding from me now the government of
my country.”

“I believe I could make it plain that the assumption of the govern-
ment of my country by Lord William Bentinck, was a measure both
unnecessary and uncalled for by the exigencies of the time, not to
speak of its being unjustified by the Treaty existing between the
Honourable Company and myself. Disturbances there were in some
" districts of the country, but do not disturbances occur in portions of
the Company’s country without any blame being imputed to the
governing authority? I had contracted debts, it is true; but what
were they in proportion to the revenue of my country? And have not
the best and most upright Governments in the world debts

In another part of this letter the Rajah admits his early
extravagance and the mismanagement of public affairs, but asks
if this is any reason that he should be ¢ disinherited for ever.”

“1 appeal,” he says, ¢ to the Treaty existing between the Govern«
ment and myself, that Treaty which I have never violated in the
slightest particular or degree, and which I am sure your Excellency
will consider the Government bound in honour to abide by. I have
received repeated assurances from Governors General that the British
Government will do me justice. I ask no more, but, as human life is
limited, I earnestly entreat that justice may be deferred no longer.
It is more than nine years since Lord Auckland gave me a hope that,
a short time longer being then necessary to perfect the measures in
progress for the better ordering of my country, it would be returned
to me; but more than nine years have passed away, and, so far as 1
am acquainted, no steps have been taken to fulfil this promise.”

“It may, and I daresay will be said that neither the debt of the
country nor what are considered my own private debts, are yet paid,
and therefore I should not yet think of asking for the government of
the country to be restored to me. Your Excellency will not cousider
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that man a bankrupt, or that country in a bad state, whose debt is
not much more than one-third of his or its income for a year,—not to
mention that there are funds accumulated in the Treasury nearly
enough to clear it; and as to the latter, my private funds are much
more than sufficient to pay them off. And I could easily prove what
your Excellency will, I doubt not, readily believe, that were the
government in my hands during the last thirteen years, under any
salutary regulations the Governor General might have thought fit to
impose, and which I was bound by the Treaty to regard, all debts of
every description would have long ere this been paid, considering only
the difference, perhaps necessary, between the expenses of European
and native administration.”

No reply was sent to the Rajah’s letter ; but Lord Hardinge,
who, it is understood, had begun, after a careful examination
of the case, to entertain grave misgivings as to our right of
retaining the administrative charge of the country, called upon
the Commissioner of Mysore for a return of the exact amount
of the Mysore public debt; and, on the required information
being furnished, all these proceedings were reported to the
Court of Directors in a despatch, No. 22, dated the 6th of
August, 1846, the purport of which was to express a doubt
whether we ought to keep possession of the Rajah’s dominions
after our pecuniary claims were satisfied, and when there was
no longer any cause for anxiety as to the regular payment of
the Subsidy.*

We have seen, then, that from 1834 to 1847 the Rajah
never ceased to claim his restoration; that three Governors
General—Lord William Bentinck, Sir Charles Metcalfe, and
Lord Hardinge—admitted that his abrupt supersession was
inconsiderate, unduly severe, and of doubtful legality; that
neither the Supreme Government nor the Home Authorities
ever rejected or contested his claim, but only postponed their
assent to a more convenient season, placing before him the
prospect of reinstatement as soon as an orderly administration
for the country had been effectually established. And I may
add, that in no despatch of the Home Government, or of the
Government of India, during that period, was any intention of
permanently retaining the management of Mysore ever ex-

* T have not seen this despatch, but I am assured that its effect is as
above stated.
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pressed or implied. But new views of policy were now be-
ginning to prevail; the Mysore Commission, under the able
direction of General Cubbon, had effected great improvements
in the twelve years between 1834 and 1846 ; the authorities,
both at Calcutta and in London, began to be enamoured of
their own achievements; and the lust of patronage also lured
them on to tighten their grasp on Mysore. The appointments
in the Mysore Commission were among those most coveted by
young officers in the Army, and the idea of not merely being
unable to provide for the candidates already on the Governor
General’s list, but of having to turn adrift, or remand to regi-
mental duty all those gentleman actually in the enjoyment of
those lucrative offices, must have been most unpleasant when
pressed upon the consideration of the Council and the Secre-
tariat by the Rajah’s repeated claims for his restoration. Nor
could the Commissioner and his Assistants be expected to
under-estimate the value of their own labours, or to advocate
their own abolition. The Rajah himself very naturally foresaw
this obstacle when, as we have seen, he asked the Resident, in
1836, “who was to be the judge” of the period when the
¢ good government > of Mysore ‘“should have been so firmly
established as to be secure from future disturbance? Were
the reports of the officers employed in the Commission to be
the guide to the Government—the reports of those whose em-
ployment would be lost by the re-transfer of the country?’*
The views, therefore, of Lord Hardinge, expressed in the
despatch No. 22 of the 6th August, 1846, not being in accord-
ance with those that were generally accepted both in Calcutta
and in London, were by no means well received at the India
House. In their reply to it, No. 15, dated the 14th of July,
1847, after ten months’ consideration, the Directors observe:—
¢“The Rajah addressed a letter to the Governor General in June,
1845, claiming to be reinstated in the government. In November
following the Rajah was informed that the reply to his letter was de-
layed in consequence of the necessity of ascertaining the exact
amount of the debt due to the British Government. We think this
a most insufficient cause of delay; first, because the most exact in-
formation on this] point ought to have been at once accessible ; and,

* Ante, p. 24.
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secondly, because such an intimation would naturally tend to make
the Rajah believe that the only or the chief obstacle to this reinstate-
ment was the non-liquidation of the debt. “THe real hindrance, how-
ever, is the hazard which would be incurred to the prosperity and
good government which the country now enjoys, by replacing it under
a ruler known by experience to be thoroughly incompetent.”

Unfavourable as is the tenor of this despatch, it is remark-
able as containing no positive denial of the Rajah’s rights, no
absolute refusal fo consider some plan for his restoration to
power under adequate securities. His alleged incompetence is
only spoken of as * an obstacle ”” and ‘“ a hindrance,” not as a
final and insurmountable objection to his reinstatement. And
the whole question is left open by the concluding sentence :—
““ We have not been apprised whether any definite answer has
yet been made to the Rajah’s application.” No instructions
for a definite answer are given. No definite answer, no answer
at all, was in fact made to the Rajah’s appeal.

This despatch of the 14th July 1847 may be considered as
marking the turning-point in the Rajah’s fortunes, after which
the tide set in against him: it contains the first decided indica-
tion of a simple reluctance to part with the management of so
rich and thriving a province, and to break up the administra-
tive system of our own construction,under which the country had
so signally prospered. The reluctance was natural, defensible,
justifiable ; but the real difficulty, however disguised, was the
patronage. There was not sufficient sympathy with the Rajah’s
claims and with native interests, to induce the British authori-
ties, at home and in India, to seek for some intermediate plan,
by which the Prince’s power might for the future be limited by
law, and by which an efficient native agency might be gradually
trained to replace their English instructors. It has been,
throughout, the official theory that the Rajah’s restoration must
necessarily involve the total and immediate withdrawal of
European agency—a theory manifestly erroneous, for ample
power is conferred upon the British Government by the Treaty,
to introduce “regulations and ordinances,” and to offer authori-
tative advice on all subjects “ connected with his Highness’s in~
terests, the happiness of his people, and the mutual welfare of
both States.” But this theory was at first, I have no doubt,

Pt
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sincerely held ; an incongruity was conceived to exist in any
plan for associating, even as a temporary expedient, a native
Sovereign and English administrators in the government of a
Principality ; and the idea of a native ruler’s power being
limited in any direction by a Code or a Constitution, never
seems to have presented itself—not even up to this day. The
Rajah himself has alluded to ““salutary regulations” that might
have been imposed upon him, and which he was ““bound by
the Treaty to regard,””™ but the complete exclusion of the
Sovereign and of all natives from power, the monopoly of all
official honours and emoluments in the hands of Englishmen,
are the only conditions on which our assistance has been
afforded.

Somewhat perplexed by the problem of reconciling the
separate and native government of Mysore under the Rajah’s
sovereignty—as designed by the Treaties of 1799—with an
effectual guarantee for the continuance of good order and
economy, somewhat averse to relinquish a valuable field of
patronage, and yet more than half persuaded of there being no
longer any valid pretext for maintaining the sequestration, the
Government subsided into the passive policy of letting well
alone, and of gaining time by harping on the Rajah’s in-
capacity—a plausible but most untenable plea. The plea of
the Prince’s personal incompetence—used with such cruel
effect in the cases of Mysore and Dhar, and now threatening
the Rajpoot State of Oodeypoor—does in effect strike at the
root of hereditary monarchy; and when advanced by the
British Government in India amounts to a confession of its own
incompetence as an Imperial and Paramount power. That
system for the government of a Principality or of a Province,
which depends for its success upon the personal abilities and
moral character of one man, is not one that British statesmen
in the nineteenth century could be expected to approve or to. up-
hold, in a case where they were authorised to express dis-
approval or to suggest modifications. And why such a system
was allowed by us to exist for one day in Mysore, why a boy of
sixteen, supported by his minions and flatterers, was permitted
by us to displace an experienced and faithful Regent, to pos-

* Ante, p. 29.
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sess himself of absolute power, and then to retain it uncontrolled
for twenty years, is a political mystery that has never been ex-
plained. It is hard to inderstand how it was that the British
Government, holding by the Treaty the right of imposing those
salutary regulations and ordinances, which the Rajah himself
invoked, never seems to have thought of introducing the first
essentials of a limited monarchy, such as a Code, a Civil List,
and a Council of State.

‘What Prince in the world is endowed with sufficient talents,
or with sufficient self-denial, to be safely trusted with uncon-
trolled and absolute*power? It seems a waste of time to dwell,
even for a moment, on so elementary a principle of modern
politics. Is King Victor Emanuel supposed to have the re-
quisite capacity to administer justice in Italy, and to dispose
of its finances, according to his own notions and predilections,
unchecked by Law, unassisted by constitutional advisers?
Was the youthful King George selected to rule over Greece
on account of his extraordinary administrative abilities? Yet
because the Rajah of Mysore, an absolute ruler at the age of
sixteen, by permission of his British Guardian, failed to make
a good use of the power which never ought to have been
thrown into his hands, that negligent and incompetent Guardian
turns round upon him, stigmatises his rule as “scandalously
and hopelessly bad,” denounces him as ‘“thoroughly incom-

. petent,” and permanently suspends his authority.

And after fifteen years of government by an able and zealous
Commissioner, who, in common with his Assistants, is re-
munerated by a liberal but fixed salary, who is controlled by
regulations, and is responsible for every official act, and for
every item of expenditure, to the Governor General in Council
—when Mysore has prospered, as might have been expected
under this well-regulated scheme of administration—a most
unfair and unreasonable comparison between the two periods’
of native and British rule]is accepted as a full and complete
apology for the proscription of the Sovereign, and, as we shall
shortly see, for the abolition of the sovereignty.

»We m¥y surely assume that the Rajah never was really
incompetent for the legitimate duties of a constitutional Sove-
reign,when we find that Lord William Bentinck. after a cara_
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ful inquiry, pronounced him to be “in the highest degree
intelligent and sensible,” described his disposition as ‘‘the
reverse of tyrannical or cruel,” and expressed his belief that
he would “ make a good ruler in future.® And from 1832 to
1847 nothing whatever had occurred that could have told to
the disadvantage or discredit of that Prince, who ‘““had ever
been,” as the Directors themselves observe,* the attached friend
of the British Government.” The facts had not altered ; the
merits of the case had not been affected; but the times had
changed. Fifteen millions sterling had been sunk in the
Affghan war; the conquest of Scinde had entailed a heavy
burden on the finances ; the Sutlej campaign had cost money ;
an annual deficit had for many years appeared in the accounts.
Distant expeditions and the advance of our external frontiers
were deprecated ; but the short-sighted policy of internal ac-
quisitions began to be entertained both at Calcutta and at
home. The favourite plan for restoring the financial equi-
librium was that of gradually extinguishing all those native
States that were in the midst of or contiguous to our territories
—those States which were said to consume so large a portion of
the revenues of India, while we bore all the expenses of its
protection. Mysore, the valuable field of patronage, now
began to be regarded, though in a vague and furtive fashion,
as Mysore the rich reversion. The Rajah had no son, and in
1847 he was in his fifty-fifth year. D

In February 1848 Lord Hardinge was succeeded by Lord
Dalhousie. In a letter dated the 8th of August 1848 the
Rajah once more addressed the Governor General on the sub-
ject of the restoration of his territory :

¢ General Cubbon,” he said, *“in his letter to me of the 5th De-
cember 1845, informed me that the delay on the part of your Excel-
lency in replying to my khureeta of the 7th June 1845, was occasioned
by the absence of some information relative to the state of the debts
which your Excellency had deemed it necessary to call for. I trust
your Lordship has received this information, and that it has been
satisfactory. Your Lordship will have heard from Mr. Grant that all
my private or the Soucar debts have been settled; and in regard to
the sum due by the State to the Honourable Company, should there

* Ante, p. 22,
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he any deficiency in the funds accumulated in the Commissioner’s
Treasury to liquidate it, I will make it up, as I mentioned to your
Excellency in my kkureeta of the 7th September 1844, from my pri-
vate funds. I trust also that your Lordship will have had from the
Commisgioner such a favourable report of the country, after fifteen
years, as will satisfy your Lordship of the efficacy of the arrangements
made; and that there can be, in your Lordship’s mind, no reasen to
apprehend failure of the military funds provided for by the 8rd Ar-
ticle of the Treaty; and that, consequently, the time has come when
I have g right to expect the fulfilment of the intimation given me in
the 5th paragraph of Lord Auckland’s letter of the 28th March, 1836,
communicating the sentiments of the high authorities in England as to
the period at which I might expect the government of my territories
would be restored to myself.”

No orders were passed by Lord Dalhousie on this letter, and
no reply was made to it. A copy of it was sent to the Court
of Directors with the despatch, No. 27 of the 1st of July 1848,
but their answer, No. 6, dated the 14th of February 1849, con-
tained no allusion whatever to the Rajah’s requisitions. Less
than a month before the date of the last mentioned communica-
tion, their despatch (No. 4, dated the 24th January 1849), ap-
proving and confirming the annexation of Sattara, had been
transmitted to Calcutta.* The reign of terror for Hindoo
Princes had commenced. Nagpore and Jhansi were annexed.
in 1854. The smaller Principalities of Jaloun, Ungool, Jeit-
pore in Bundelcund, Bughat, Sumbhulpore, Boodawul and
Chota Oodeypoor were also absorbed during Lord Dalhousie’s
tenure of office.t In 1853 the Nizam was coerced into assign-
ing to our ‘‘exclusive management’ some of his finest pro-
vinces, producing about a fourth of his revenue. In January
1856 the appropriation of Oude had been finally sanctioned,
and the orders for deposing the King had been issued, and
were in process of execution.} On the 19th of December 1855
Lord Dalhousie recorded a Minute denying to Prince Azeem

i e S TR

* Battara Papers, 1849, p. 8.

+ His Lordship also proposed, on various occasions, the annexation of
the Rajpoot State of Kerowlee, of Kolapore (whose Rajah now represents
the family of Sivajee, the founder of the Mahratta power), and of Ady-
ghur; but these were all disapproved by the Home Government.

I Oude Papers, 1856, p. 241.
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Jah, the heir and representative of our faithful Allies in war
“Bfid peace, the Nawabs of the Carnatic, that hereditary dignity
and revenue which had been expressly secured to the Wallajah
family by the Treaty concluded in 1801 with the Prince’s own
father, the Nawab Azeem-ood-Dowlah. What were Lord Dal-
housie’s reflections on Mysore, in the full tide of this career of
annexation, may be easily conceived.
In one of his Minutes, dated the 16th January 1856, re-
viewing General Cubbon’s Administration Report for the pre-
ceding official year, occurs the following passage :—

““ The Rajah of Mysore is now sixty-two years of age. He is the
only Rajah who, for twenty generations past, as he himself informed
me, has lived to the age of sixty years. It is probable, therefore, that
his life will not be much fuither prolonged. He has no legitimate
son or grandson, nor any lawful male heir whatever. He has adopted
no child, and has never designed to adopt an heir. On the contrary,
General Cubbon informed me that, when sometimes pressed by those
about him to adopt, the Rajah has been used to reply, ¢ No, I have
no male child of my own. I will not adopt. I will be the last Rajah
of Mysore.’

*“ The Treaty under which Lord Wellesley raised the Rajah, while
yet a child, to the musnud, and the Treaty which was subsequently
concluded with himself, were both silent as to heirs and successors.
No mention is made of them ; the Treaty is exclusively a personal one.

¢ The inexpediency of continuing this territory, by afi act of gra-
tuitous liberality, to any other native Prince, when the present Rajah
shall have died, has been already conclusively shown by the conduct
of his Highness himself, whose rule, though he commenced it under
every advantage, was so scandalously and hopelessly bad, that power
has long since been taken from him by the British Government.

«1 trust, therefore, that when the decease of the present Rajah
shall come to pass, without son or grandson, or legitimate male heir
of any description, the Territory of Mysore, which will then have
lapsed to the British Government, will be resumed, and that the good
work, which has been so well begun, will be completed.”

‘We have now arrived at a new stage in our downward pro-
gress. For the first time a Governor General has now placed
on official record, although in a secret department, a statement
of his desire and design to incorporate Mysore with the British
dominions, on the death of the reigning Rajah. Henceforth the

|
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question of reinstating the Rajah, treated with silent contempt

in the Minute just quoted, sinks into a secondary place. Hence-

forth a suspicion cannot be avoided, that the true obstacle to

restoration is not the Rajah’s incompetence, not the impossibility

of securing good government, by but an aversion to relax our |

grasp, to relinquish the visible advantage afforded by Tong con-"
~¢intied administrative possession.

But though Lord Dalhousie avows himself to be prepared to
rely, if necessary, upon the newly invented weapon, which he
had just used with cruel effect in the Carnatic spoliatiop—to
deny that the sovereignty of Mysore was hereditary, to “declare
the Treaty of 1799 ““a personal treaty,”” made only for one life,
and renewable merely at the good pleasure of the British
Government, as a matter of grace and favour—he very plainly
indicates a hope that this engine of destruction may after all
not be required, that the conveyance may be quietly effected,
without notice, dispute or scandal ; that the Rajah, who had
now outlived by three years the supposed family limit of sixty,
may soon disappear from the scene, leaving no heir by birth or
adoption, no possible claimant of the throne, to draw from us
a premature or public disclosure of our expansive pretensions.
And it is very remarkable how, in his eagerness to lay this
flattering unction to his soul, Lord Dalhousie snatches at the
veriest trifle, some petulant expressions attributed to the RaJab
and parades them as a proof of that Prince’s acquiescence in
the prospective extinction of his dynasty. The Rajah, we are
assured, has “never designed to adopt an heir.> There can
be no question of this, because, when pressed by those about
him, he has been used to reply, “I will not adopt. I will be
the last Rajah of Mysore.” General Cubbon himself was never
present when the Rajah made use of these expressions, and
when he repeated this interesting piece of Court gossip—pro-
bably after dinner—to the Governor General, can scarcely have
anticipated that it would be treasured up so carefully, and
turned to such a purpose. There can scarcely be a better
specxmen of the enormous assumptions, the transparent fallacies,
which, in the privacy of a compliant Council, Lord Dalhousie
was permitted to pass off as arguments, than is shown in this
short extract from his Minute on Mysore. A Treaty of * per-

T
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petual friendship and alliance,” the obligations of which are to
last ““as long as the sun and moon shall endure,”* is pro-
nounced to be *‘ exclusively a personal one,” good only for the
Rajah’s life, and providing for no heir or successor. The
solemn formalities of a Treaty become mere idle words when
they uphold tHe native sovereignty; the recorded intentions,
the written proposals of his predecesssors are silently over-
looked—I suppose because they are informal and not legally
binding—but the tittle-tattle of a Residency Moonshee, when
it implies that the Rajah is resigned and even reconciled to the
extinction of his family, is hailed as holy writ.

There can be, to my mind, no more evident mark of con-
scious moral weakness, than that exhibited by our authorities
at home and in India, with strange uniformity, at every stage of
the numerous acquisitive transactions between 1848 and 1856,
in always grasping with manifest exultation at anything said or
done, or omitted to be said or done, by the injured parties,
,that could be twisted into even the remotest resemblance of an
admission or acquiescence on their part.

And even if we accept as accurate the reported version of
the Rajah’s exclamations, to what do they amount? He had
watched with dismay the recent destruction of so many friendly
Principalities ; he had ascertained during his own interviews
with Lord Dalhousie, that there was no hope of redress for
himself, and he said in the bitterness of his heart, I shall be
the last Rajah of Mysore,”—not ““ I will,” for the nice distinc-
tion between * shall” and “will,” petuliar to the Teutonic
languages, was unknown in his own vernacular ; and most cer-
tainly, as I shall show, the Rajah could not and did not wsll-
tngly abandon the hope of perpetuating his dynasty,—but
“I now see clearly,” was his obvious meaning, “that I am
doomed by the present policy of the Calcutta Government to
be the last Rajah of Mysore. I will not, like the Rajahs of
Sattara and Jhansi, adopt a son to be an outcast, a beggar, a
pretender threatened with the gibbet or the jail, or at the best
a pensioner for life. I shall be the last Rajah of Mysore.”

But although it may be true that expressions such as these,
indicating an aversion to adopt a son whose right of succession

* Appendix B.
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would be assuredly rejected, may, during the est hours of
the Dalhousie reign, have sometimes escaped the Rajah, the
asser at he had “ never designed to adopt an heir,” is not
only unsupported, but is positively contradicted by facts. In
his letter to Lord Hardinge of the 15th of February 1844,
already quoted,* he speaks of his Principality as ¢ that heredi-
tary patrimony bequeathed to me by my Sires, the Sovereigns
of the soil, and the perpetuation of which has been guaranteed
to me by the Honourable Company.”” In another letter, dated
the 9th of May 1844, from which some extracts have also been
given,t he declares his belief “that, in the words of my
Treaty, the British Government will act towards me and my
hetrs, even ¢ as long as the sun and moon shall endure,” as my
Guardian and Patron.” At this time the Rajah was upwards
of fifty years of age, and had no son. And in his letter of the
8th of August 1848, to Lord Dalhousie himself, he had con-
firmed these letters and renewed their claims. And at a later
period, when appealing to Lord Canning against the proposed
retransfer of Mysore to the supervision of the Madras Govern-
ment, he says :—* Moreover, my Lord, I have grave fears that
such a measure as this, if introduced, would possibly interfere
with the claims that I and my heirs have for the restoration of
the Government of my country.” This letter, of which I shall
have to say more hereafter, is dated the 15th of March 1860,
when ¢i.- Rajah was sixty-five years old. On these two occa-
sions he can scarcely be supposed to have written in these
terms, without relying on his right of adopting an heir. This
at least is certain, that from 1832 to 1844, when he claimed the
perpetuation of his sovereignty, and declared the rights of his
heirs; and from 1844 to 1860, when he again protested against
any infringement of their rights, the Rajah never, in any offi-
cial document, or at any official interview, allowed any oppor-
tunity to pass away of asserting the hereditary nature of his
dignity, he never expressed any doubt on the subject, and no
doubt on the subject was ever expressed to him.

And it is worthy of remark that Lord Dalhousie’s aspirations
for the completion of the good work of ,assimilating Mysore,
do not scem to have called forth any response or approval from

* Ante, p. 26, + Ante, p. 27.
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any other member of the Government. Indeed, during the
consultations on the disposal of Oude, Sir John Peter Grant,
then a Member of Council, and a firm upholder of British para-
mount prerogatives, in a paper dated August the 7th, 1855,
made use of the following distinction :—** The case of Mysore
differs from the supposed case of Oude, inasmuch as our ma-
nagement of that province is professedly temporary, and on
account of the Sovereign of Mysore.'’*

General Cubbon was certainly not prepared for the absorp-
tion of this native State, for he wrote in the following terms in
a private letter to a friend on the 23rd of June 1859 :—

I have received a tremendous wig lately from Bengal on the sub-
ject of duties, and shall have to point out more than one mistake on
their part, besides insinuating that they have no right under the
Treaty to reduce the revenues of a foreign State, and that they will
have to make a corresponding reduction in the Subsidy. In truth
they, or I should rather say Mr. Beadon, have forgotten that the
orders from England are imperative that the administration of Mysore
should be so conducted that the country may be 1estored to a native
Government at the shortest notice; and in consequence we are at this
moment obliged to oppose many parts of procedure which a native
Government could not administer.”

Lord Canning himself, so late as the year 1860, in referring
to the affairs of Mysore in the General Report on the Adminis-
tration of India for the preceding official vear,} treats the

eStaw PV

JB2iictiance of the separate jurisdiction and distinct establish-
ments of Mysore, as a matter of conscientious obligation.

«Tt has also been necessary,” he says, * so to conduct the admi-
nistration as to fulfil conscientiously the instructions laid down for
guidance in a letter from the Home authorities, under date the 25th
September 1835, and which states as follows :— We are desirous of
adhering, as far as can be done, to the native usages, and not to intro-
duce a system which cannot be worked hereafter by native agency,
when the country shall be restored to the Rajah.””

e * QOude Papers, 1856, p. 213,
+ Published.



CHAPTER IIL
1856 TO 1862.

As we approach more closely to that crisis in the fortunes of
the Mysore State, which immediately preceded and produced
the actual position of its affairs, the question of restoring a
native government during the reigning Prince’s life-time, sinks
into insignificance before the imminent prospect of the whole
framework of the native State itself being swept away at the
reigning Prince’s demise, and of Mysore being incorporated in
the Madras Presidency. Before finally quitting this earlier
aspect of the case, I wish, therefore, briefly to recapitulate and
present in a small compass, the views which I have formed on
the Rajah’s personal claim to restoration.

I think, then, that the first attachment of the country by
Lord William Bentinck was not justified either by the terms of
the Treaty, or by any special urgency of outraged humanity, or
of danger to the tranquillity of our own adjacent provinces.
These points appear to me to be proved by Lord William’s own
admissions that while the Treaty only warranted an assumption
with a view to secure our Subsidy, ‘“ the Subsidy does not
appear to have been in any immediate jeopardy ;” that whereas
the Treaty only warranted the assumption of such “ part or
parts”. as should be sufficient to secure the payment of our
demands, we actually assumed charge of the whole country.

The rebellion in Mysore was of a trifling nature, and was
very easily suppressed ; similar disturbances have occurred at
various times in the neighbouring British districts of Canara
and the Southern Mahratta country, without any serious charges
of oppression or negligence being brought against the officers
who were responsible for the good order of those territories.
The fact is that the inhabitants of the Southern Mahratta Pro-
vinces and of Canara, with whom the rebels of the Mysore
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district of Nuggur are closely allied by blood and manners, are
a peculiarly turbulent and warlike race; and, as the Rajah
reminds the Governor General, Lord Elgin, in a letter written
in April 1862, a really formidable rebellion which broke out in
} those British provinces in 1844, was not suppressed until an
army of at least 10,000 men had been employed for several
months,—an army including several European regiments, with
the aid of a battering train, and including also the Irregular
Cavalry of his Highness the Rajah of Mysore. So that if we
compare the recent history of the contiguous British districts
with that of Mysore, we find the incident of a revolt to be
identical, and the obligation of suppressing revolt to be re-
ciprocal. Lord William Bentinck also acknowledged that the
Rajah’s disposition was neither tyrannical nor cruel, and that
no imputation of inhumanity could be made against him. And
the Special Committee of Inquiry came to the conclusion that
as to many of the grievances under which the people of
Mysore had suffered, the period of Poorniah’s administration
must be included in their censure, without distinction from
that of the Rajah’s personal rule.
« Then as to the broad general case of the misgovernment of
Mysore, I have maintained, and, I think, proved that the
Honourable Company was primarily and mainly blameable for
it. If Mysore was badly governed in the past, it was our own
fault; and if Mysore were in the future to be badly governed
under the restored rule of its Sovereign, the faithful ally and
attached feudatory of the British Crown, it would be equally
our own fault. Ample securities can be obtained, under the
provisions of the existing Treaty, for the due administration
of justice, and for the economical management of the finances.
I can see no valid objection, therefore, under that head to the
Rajah’s immediate restoration.

The Treaty undoubtedly leaves the execution of the two
corrective Articles, IV and V, both as to commencement and
as to duration, to the discretion of the British Government.
But this discretion, being of necessity so placed in the hands
of that one of the two contracting parties which alone possesses
the power of enmforcing the provisions of the Treaty, the
heaviest moral obligation is imposed upon .33. to be cautious as
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to the commencement of such an execution, and to make its
?duration as brief as possible—to treat the weaker party with
good faith and generpus consideration, so long as he conducts
himself with loyalty and deference towards his powerful Ally
and Patron. This the Rajah of Mysore has always done, and
he has never been accused of doing otherwise. But we were
not cautious in commencing the execution; having previously
neglected to train the Rajah and to organise his administration,
we overlooked, when it fell into disorder, the milder plan of
introducing regulations and ordinances, and at once rushed
to the extreme process—that ‘“harsh and unprovoked mea-
sure,” as Lord Metcalfe called it, of setting the Prince entirely
aside, and putting the management exclusively in the hands of
English officers. And we have certainly not, in any way or
at any time, tried to shorten the duration of our interference.
I cannot but come to the conclusion that the Subsidiary
Treaty has been infringed by the stronger party, both in letter
and spirit, and that the weaker party is entitled to a signal and
complete reparation.

Throughout the terrible events of 1857 and 1858 the people
of Mysore remained tranquil. Elements of mischief existed
in abundance in various quarters; emissaries of rebellion
traversed the country in every direction ; but peace was never
disturbed, and the Rajah’s troops were actually detached into
the adjoining British provinces to assist in preventing insur-
rection. Without detracting from the great merits of Sir
Mark Cubbon, whose name and influence had the greatest
weight throughout Mysore with all classes, from the Prince to
the peasant, and whose vigilance and tact were remarkable
throughout the time of danger, his own official statements to
Government may be adduced to prove how efficacious were
the example and exertions of the Rajah in securing to us the ‘
fidelity of his people. In a despatcd, dated the 2nd of June,
1860, the Commissioner of Mysore wrote in the following
terms to the Governor General, Lord Canning :—

“To no one was the Government more indebted for the preserva-
tion of }:ranquillity than to his Highness_the Rajah, who displayed
the most steadfast loyalty throughout the crisis, discountenancing
everything in the shape of disaffection, and taking every opportunity
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to proclaim his perfect confidence in the stability of the English rule:
When the small party of Europeans arrived at Mysore, he made
manifest his satisfaction by giving them a feast. He offered one of
his Palaces for their accommodation, and as a stronghold for the
security of the treasure; and even gave up his own personal estab-
lishment of elephants, etc., to assist the 74th Highlanders in its
forced march from the Neilgherries to Bellary, for the protection of
the Ceded Districts, a proceeding which, although of no great mag-
nitude in itself, produced great moral effects throughout the country.
In fact, there was nothing in his power which he did not do to
manifest his fidelity to the British Government, and to discourage the
unfriendly.”

The Viceroy acknowledged the Rajah’s valuable and faith-
ful services in the following letter of thanks.

¢ To his Highness the Maharajah of Mysore.
¢ Fort William, the 28th June 1860.
¢ MAHARAJAH,

“I have lately received from the Commissioner of Mysore a
despatch, in which the assistance received by that officer from your
Highness, in preserving peace and encouraging loyalty in the districts
under his charge during the recent troubles in India, is prominently
brought to notice.

I was well aware that, from the very beginning of those troubles,
the fidelity and attachment to the British Government, which have
long marked your Highness’s acts, had been conspicuous upon every
opportunity.

¢“Your Highness’s wise confidence in the power of England, and
your open manifestation of it, the consideration and kindness which
you showed to British subjects, and the ready and useful assistance
which you rendered to the Queen’s troops, have been mentioned by
the Commissioner in terms of the highest praise.

“] beg your Highness to accept the expression of my warm thanks
for these fresh proofs of the spirit by which your Highness is ani-
mated in ymrelations with the Government of India.

“I shall have much pleasure in making them known to her
Majesty’s Secretary of State for India.

¢It is satisfactory to me to know that, throughout the time of
which I have spoken, your Highness has had the advantage of the
support and counsel of so tried and distinguished an Officer of the
Crown, and one so devoted to the welfare of your Highness’s State, as
8ir Mark Cubbon. 1 have, &c,

¢ CaNNING,”



18566 TO 1862. 45

But even while these amenities were passing between
Mysore and Calcutta, the Rajah was in the agonies of a fresh
wound, one that touched him to the quick, that seemed to
destroy all hope of recovery from his long political syncope,
and to threaten him with the infliction of political death in the
face of all India, before his natural term of life had closed.

Ever since 1832 the management of Mysore had been under
the direct superintendence of the Governor-General of India,
and was not liable to be interfered with by the subordinate
and nearer Presidency of Madras. The Rajah had some pride
in this arrangement, not, perhaps, unmingled with the feeling
that the transfer had originally been made with some intention
of rebuking the Madras Government for its neglect, and of
thus casting upon it to a certain extent the blame of the mis-
government of his country. He also knew that his superses-
sion had been instigated by the Madras officials, that gentle-
men belonging to that Presidency enjoyed most of the lucrative
offices dependent on his continued supersession; and he be-
lieved that his prospects of restoration would be much more
favourable, while he was in direct communication with the
higher and more distant authority, than if he were left in
the grasp of the more contiguous and more interested minor
Government.

In a despatch to the Governor General in Council, dated the
26th of January 1860, the Secretary of State, Sir Charles
Wood, quite unexpectedly desired that the Mysore Commis-
sion should be placed under the immediate superintendence of
the Government of Madras, to which Sir Charles Trevelyan
had been recently appointed. The grounds for this sudden
change are thus stated in the despatch :—

¢ The arguments which in 1832 were advanced by the Governor
General of India, in favour of the transfer of the controlling authority
over the Mysore Commission to the hands of the Governor General
of India in Council, were of a temporary and accidental, rather than
of a general character, and do not appear to be applicable to the
present circumstances of the Mysore administration. On the other
hand the territory over which political and administrative control is
exercised by the Government of India, has been so extended, and
the current business of your office has so increased since 1832, as to



46 CHAPTER II.

afford full and ample employment for the Foreign Department of

your Government. It appears to me, therefore, that it is advisable,

partly with the view of relieving your Government, and partly with
the object of placing the superintendence of Mysore and Coorg under
the Government, which, from its position, can most conveniently
exercise it, to revert to the arrangement which was originally made,
on our first assumption of the administration of Mysore, viz., that the
superintendence should be exercised by the Government of Madras.”

But the geographical position of the Mysore Principality,
which naturally suggests the Madras Government as the centre
of direction in the event of Mysore becoming a British pro-
vince, was the very circumstance that made the proposed
transfer most alarming and offensive to the Rajah and all well-
wishers of his sovereignty. It seemed to them to denote the
beginning of the end, to be the preliminary measure of annexa-
tion. The Rajah prepared a firm but respectful remonstrance
to be forwarded to the Governor General, wrote to Sir Mark

Cubbon declaring that “ nothing would ever exact from him

acquiescence in this measure,” and implored the Commis-

sioner not to leave him in the midst of these new difficulties.

I could ill afford,” wrote the Rajah, *“to lose your much

valued friendship and counsel at any time, but just at present

it is a positive calamity both to myself and to my country.”

For immediately on receiving information of the intended

change, Sir Mark Cubbon had sent in the resignation of his

office in the following letter to Government.

From the Commissioner for the Government of the Territories of His
Highness the Rajah of Mysore, to the Secretary to the Government
of India in the Foreign Department.

‘¢ Nundydroog, 5th March, 1860.
¢ S1m,
¢ Having received private but authentic information that orders
have issued from the Office of the Secretary of State for India, that
the control of Mysore shall be withdrawn from the Government of

India, notwithstanding the declaration contained in the despatch

from the Honourable the Court of Directors, dated the 81st May

1838, No. 34,* I have the honour to request you will be so good as

to tender to the Honourable the President in Council the resignation

* I do not know what this declaration is, but I believe it would throw
some light on the early history of this question.
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of my appointment as Commissioner, and to add to it my respectful
solicitation to be relieved as soon as his Honour may find it con-
venient.

¢ shall have the satisfaction of making over charge to my suc-
cessor of the territories of Mysore and Coorg, in a state to all appear-
ance (I say to all appearance, for I do not presume to be able to see
below the surface,) of perfect tranquillity, and not dissatisfied with
the present form of administration, and with a current revenue ex-
ceeding that of any former year in Mysore, that is to say, not less

1 than 93 lakhs of rupees.
¢ have the honour to be, etc.,
¢« M. CusBoN, Commissioner.”

The motives and feelings by which General Cubbon was
actuated in taking this step, may be gathered from the follow-
ing extracts from two of his private letters, both dated the 8th
of March, 1860.

“1 have just had a little talk with (a native) ‘and find that
the late order is regarded as a great breach of public faith, as the first
step towards the final extinction of the State of Mysore and its incor-
poration with MEH‘F‘as',‘and consequently tending to produce the most
fatal of all results, the destruction of all confidence in the sincerity of
the Queen’s Proclamation. Viewed in this 1fght it is a most serious

~affair, and in the present suspicious temper of the native mind, it is
certain to give rise to the most unfavourable interpretation, and be
made a party question of by our enemies, who will represent it as
another proof of our intention to degrade the natives.’

“The Rajah’s khureeta is most forcibly put; and whatever impres-
sion it may make on the Government of India or the India Board, it
is almost certain to cause a sensation if read in the House of Com-
mons. As for the adoption, they dare not refuse it. I had no idea
it would have been so generally believed that this step was prepara-
tory to the extinction of the Raj, but such appears to have been the
impression that has got abroad, and which is openly avowed in the
petitions that are coming to me.”

The following is the Ahureeta or letter from the Rajah to
Lord Canning, to which General Cubbon alludes.

¢ Mysore Palace, 15th March 1860.

« My Logb,

¢ Having been informed that the Mysore country has

been or is about to be transferred from Bengal to the Madras Presi-
dency, I beg leave most respectfully to address your Lordship upon
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this subject, and to entreat that the reasons which inducé me to pro-
test against this measure will meet with your Lordship’s consideration.

¢« 2, The transfer of the management of my country from the Su-
preme to a subordinate Government, without any reference to me, as
if I had no longer any interest in the matter, or any rights to uphold,
fills my mind with apprehension and alarm.

¢ 8. Consider, my Lord, I beseech of you, the degradation to which
I should be subjected, by such a measure, in the eyes of all natives,
and especially those of my own subjects. Pardon the boldness of my
language, my Lord, but my conscience tells me that I am entitled to
protection from your Lordship, in consideration of the loyalty exhi-
bited by myself and my subjects during the recent sad disturbances,
which permitted of two thousand of my Silladar Horse being sent to
aid in the suppression of the Rebellion. I claim it, moreover, my
Lord, in virtue of her Majesty’s Proclamation.

« 4. I cannot, my Lord, see how my interests, or those of my country,
are to be bettered by this transfer, Perfect tranquillity reigned in my
country at a time when a word of mine, or disaffection on the part of
my people, would have thrown Southern India into a blaze; but my
conduct, and that of my people during that dreadful period, exhibits
the complete success of the administration as at present carried out.

¢ 5. Moreover, my Lord, I have grave fears that such a measure
as this, if introduced, would pos<ibly interfere with the claims that I
and my heirs have for the restoration of the Government of my coun-
try, a8 1t 18 evident that the contemplated change is with the view of
introducing alterations in the form of Government, which would render
it difficult for me or my successor to conduct the administration here-
after with a native agency; and the recent conduct of the present
Governor of Madras adds cogency to my fears on this point.

¢ 6. I do not, moreover, my Lord, hesitate to state (and, from my
position, I claim a right to be a judge in such matters, seeing how
much I am interested in this question) that the condition of Mysore
at this moment would contrast favourably with any other province on
this side of India. The revenue has increased, and is increasing;
and that, too, without pressing on any class, or giving rise to murmur
or complaint. There is comparatively little crime; and, what there
is, is effectually met by a system, which, for efficiency and cheapness,
is not surpassed by any in the country. That the judicial system
founded upon that most cherished by natives of all their institutions,
the Punchayet,® operates with the utmost success, and I specially
deprecate any innovation in the native system of judicial administra-

* Trial by a jury of five members.
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tion at present in force ; the most sacred rights and privileges of the
people are respected, and the utmost confidence exists in the minds of
all that such will continue so long as the present system lasts.

¢ 7. I now beg to bring to your Lordship’s recollection, that Mysore
was under the control of the Supreme Government for many years
and prospered. It was afterwards transferred to Madras, and the
result does not afford proof of the advantage of the transfer, for the
insurrection arose, and the country was assumed while under the con-
trol of that Presidency.

¢ 8. In conclusion, my Lord, I beg to remark, that it would require
very strong reasons to justify the risk of making the change now pro-
posed; and I most respectfully, at the same time most emphatically,
deny that any such reasons exist.

“9. And now, my Lord, I have stated my case, and, fully relying
on your Lordship’s well-known sense of justice, I confidently leave
the issue in your Lordship’s hands. I am an oldman, and have suf-
fered much; and you, my Lord, will, I feel assured, save me from
this crowning indignity.

¢ With the assurance of my unaltered respect and esteem for your
Lordship, I beg leave to subscribe myself,

¢ Your Lordship’s most faithful Friend and humble Servant,

“MyYsorE KRISTNARAT WADIYAR.”

It will be observed that the Rajah here lays claim to the re-
storation of his country, on behalf of himself and Ass Acirs, and
deprecates rash innovations, not only on his own account, but
on account of Ais successor. No trace is to be found of that
indifference to the interests of the fumily, of that determination
to be the last Rajah of Mysore, upon which Lord Dalhousie
relied in 1856. He alludes to the rights of his heirs in 1860
just as he did in 1844.*

Lord Canning supported the Rajah’s application in the fol-
lowing letter to the Secretary of State, informed the Rajah and
Sir Mark Cubbon that for the present the proposed change
would not be carried out, a reference having been made to
London ; and requested the Commissioner in the meantime to
suspend the tender of his resignation.

«“ Foreign Department (Camp Hoshiarpore),

“ No. 85, 30th March, 1860.
¢ Sim,

*I had the honour to receive, on the 8th instant, your des-

* Ante, p. 27.
=
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patch of the 26th January, directing me, at my earliest convenience, to
place the Mysore Commission under the immediate superintendence
of the Governor of Madras in Council. I thereupon called, by tele-
graph, for the papers showing the circumstances in which, in 1882,
the Mysore Commission was placed on its present footing. Before
the papers reached me, I received a telegraphic message from the
Rajah of Mysore. The letter to myself, which his Highness an-
nounces, as well as a letter from his Highness to the Commissioner,
Sir Mark Cubbon, reached me yesterday. Copies of these letters I
enclose.

«] have received, too, a letter from Sir Mark Cubbon, tendering his
resignation, on account of the change prescribed in the superintend-
ence of his charge.

¢ Whether, if the opportunity had been allowed to me of being the
channel of the communication to his Highness, I could in any degree
have anticipated his remonstrances, and lessened the feelings of morti-
fication and indignity which he has expressed, I cannot say. Perhaps
it might have been so, although certainly I do not pretend that I could
have made the change palatable to him.

¢ But the question now to be considered is, how the appeal of the
Rajah is to be dealt with, and I feel it to be impossible, in the face of
such an appeal coming from so venerable and loyal a Prince, and
couched in terms so dignified, but so respectful, to persist in the im-
mediate execution of your orders without submitting the case for your
reconsideration.

¢ Although no allusion is made in your despatch to the Sovereign
of Mysore, it appears to me that that Prince possesses a v-f;;' strong
“cfaim to have his wishes and feelings considered by us, and that we
shall do that which is both ungenerous and impolitic, if we set these
aside.

1 am, therefore, not surprised that the Rajah of Mysore should
speak of the declared measure as being a degradation of himself in the
eyes of all natives, especially in those of his own subl'ects, and an
indignity. -

¢« It is unnecessay for me to say, that the Rajah’s allusions to the
loyalty of himself and his people, and to the example and aid thereby
given to the native subjects of the Crown in Southern India, are quite
just. Mysore was traversed in all directions during 1857 and 1858 by
Mahratta and Brahmin emissaries, but the people of that country re-
mained tranquil.

‘“ Also, the Rajah is well entitled to point (as he does point with
pride) to the actual condition of his dominions. The system of admi-
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nistration which has prevailed there is in many ways capable of ameli-
oration, but it has been repeatedly acknowledged to deserve the cha-
racter given to it by the Court of Directors in 1838 of a ¢ beneficial
and improving system’; and I cannot think that the nearness of
supervision, or any other convenience which would result from a
transfer of the superintendence of that system to Madras, is worth pur-
chasing at the cost of offending and alienating the Sovereign of the
country ; especially when, by a little patience, the desired end will,
in all human probability, be attained without any such conse-
quences.

‘“ As bearing on the price which we shall pay for forcing this
measure upon Mysore, I invite your attention to the following
facts.

“ The Rajah of Mysore is an old man, past sixty, and of a family
notoriously shortlived. He has no son, and has adopted no heir. It
has been supposed that he will bequeath his Kingdom to the British
Government. I say ¢ supposed,’ because there is no formal or official
evidence of his purpose; butI know for certain that such was his in-
tention, because early in 1858, and whilst Upper India was still in
full rebellion, the Rajah seized an opportunity of conveying to myself,
through an entirely private channel, not only the strongest protesta-
tions of his loyalty, gratitude and devotion to the Government, but a
distinct and earnest declaration, more than once repeated, of his wish
that everything that he possessed should at his death pass into
its hands. - T h

I beg you to compare this declaration with the passage in his
letter now enclosed, in which the Rajah expresses grave fears that the
measure announced from England will interfere with the claims which
he and his heirs have for the restoration of the Government of his
country.

“It may be very little desirable that more provinces should be
added to those which aie already under the absolute rule of the
Queen in India; but the case of Mysore, lying in the midst of the
Madras Presidency, and already bound to us in a way which is not
convenient or satisfactory, is quite exceptional; and the bequest of
that country in full sovereignty to the Crown, by the free will of the
ruler, and in a spirit of loyal attachment to the British power, is a
consummation which, in the interests of all concerned, no one would
wish to see defeated.

¢¢ It will be the first measure towards Mysore by the direct Govern-
ment of the Queen, and it may probably be the last to be taken during
the present Rajah’s lifetime. Surely it is to be desired that it should

E®?
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not be such as to draw from the Rajah an emphatic protest and re-
fusal of consent, in which he will carry with him, reasonably or un-
reasonably, the sympathy of his fellow Princes.
“1 have, &c.,
¢ CanNing.”

The first point that demands notice in this very remarkable
despatch, and which must be carefully held in remembrance, is
that Lord Canning very properly describes the Rajah as ¢ the
Sovereign of Mysore.”” In a subsequent letter of great im-
portance addressed to the Rajah, he carefully avoids giving
him that title, and claims the sovereignty for the British
Government. The people of Mysore are also said in this de-
spatch to be “ his own subjects.”

The next noticeable point is the admission that ‘‘the Rajah
is entitled to point (as he does point with pride) to the actual
condition of his dominions.” In that subsequent letter to the
Rajah himself, which 1 shall shortly have to produce, he is
expressly debarred from the merit of having given any support
to Sir Mark Cubbon, whose enlightened services he had eulo-
gised, and is taunted with the counteraction offered by himself
and his partisans to the improvements introduced by that
officer. That counteraction, chiefly due, as explained in the
last Chapter, to the rivalry of the Resident and the Commis-
sioner, had been reduced to nothing on the Resident’s depar-
ture, and had ceased entirely since 1847. For thirteen years
the most perfect harmony had subsisted between the Rajah and
General Cubbon. The General himself, in the same despatch,
dated the 2nd of June, 1860, from which I have already quoted
his testimony to the Rajah’s loyal services during the rebellion,
acknowledges * the cordiality observed by him for a good many
years towards the existing administration.”

In the despatch to the Secretary of State, which we have
just read, no complimentary words are omitted, no consideration
is to be withheld, no offence is to be offered to the dignity of
 the Sovereign of Mysore,” that “ venerable and loyal Prince
—apparently because he is supposed to be going like a lamb to
the slaughter. In the subsequent letter to the Rajah himself,
which we have yet to see, he is a “ hereditary prisoner,” his
ancestors were ‘ vassal chiefs,”” his rank and possessions are



1856 TO 1862. 53

not hereditary, the sovereignty of Mysore is claimed for the
British Government, and every form of studied disparagement
and reproach is aimed at this unfortunate Prince—apparently
because he will not go like alamb to the slaughter, because the
hope of his quietly submitting to be extinguished has been
dispelled.

The main interest and pith of the despatch now under con-
sideration are concentrated in two paragraphs, which I shall
here quote separately for more easy reference :—

¢ The Rajah of Mysore is an old man, past sixty, and of a family
notoriously shortlived. He has no son, and has adopted no heir. It
has been supposed that he will bequeath his Kingdom to the British
Government. I say ¢ supposed,’” because there is no formal or official
evidence of his purpose; but I know for certain that such was his
intention, because early in 1858, and whilst Upper India was still in
full rebellion, the Rajah seized an opportunity of conveying to myself
through an entirely private channel, not only the strongest protesta-
tions of his loyalty, gratitude and devotion to the Government, but a
distinct and earnest declaration, more than once repeated, of his wish
that everything he possessed should, at his death, pass into its hands.”

And then :—

“I beg you to compare this declaration with the passage in his
letter now enclosed, in which the Rajah expresses grave fears that the
measure announced from England will interfere with the claims which
he and Lhig _heirs have for the restoration of the Government of his

A% ome
country.”

And certainly if the supposed declaration and the actual
claim, be compared, they will be found to be directly contra-
dictory. The only wonder is that this utter incompatibility of
the colloquial concession with the written claim before his eyes,
—a claim consistent with all the Rajah’s authentic declarations
before or since,—did not suggest to Lord Canning that there
must have been some strange misunderstanding in 1858, some
mistake in reporting the Rajah’s private conversation, some
wrong interpretation of his words, some mis-translation of his
Oriental compliments to that entirely private channel through
which his supposed ‘ wish > was conveyed to the Governor-
General. It appears as if Lord Canning was so eager to believe,
and so anxious to persuade himself, that the Rajah had ex-



54 CHAPTER III.

pressed this unaccountable ° wish,”—at variance with the
whole tenour of his life—that, although he knew this private
report must require some formal document to corroborate it,
he never took the least notice of it in his communications
with the Rajah, never acknowledged it, or returned thanks
, for it, or requested any explanation on the subject, as if
' he feared that a touch would burst the bubble. If the
Rajah’s alleged message appeared to the Governor General
to be of any public importance, it was surely his duty to
make some further inquiry about it. Instead of that, the
very incident which we noticed in Lord Dalhousie’s Minute of
the 16th January, 1856, so typical of the moral weakness and
legal nullity of these acquisitive apologetics,* is exactly repro-
duced. No question is asked, no confirmation is required of
the vague expressions informally translated and informally re-
ported. After having been treasured up for two years, the
Rajah’s deferential protestations are brought forward by Lord
Canning,—as a rumour of his desponding soliloquy was by Lord
Dalhousie,—to prove his Highness’s indifference to the rights
of his family and the future existence of his State, at the very
time that he was contending for them.
The despatch then proceeds thus :—

“It may be very little desirable that more provinces should be
added to those which are already under the absolute rule of the
Queen in India; but the case of Mysore, lying in the midst of the
Madras Presidency, and already bound to us in a way which is not
convenient or satisfactory, is quite exceptional; and the bequest of
that country in full sovereignty to the Crown, by the free will of the
ruler, and in a spirit of loyal attachment to the British power, is a
consummation which, in the interest of all concerned, no one would
wish to see defeated.”

For my part I do most positively declare, that if the Rajah
had any such intention, which he certainly has not, I should wish
to see it defeated. I believe that we cannot afford to lose
Mysore as a dependent native State, and that we cannot afford
to take it as an additional British province. I can see nothing
inconvenient or unsatisfactory in the way Mysore is bound to
us, except that obstacle to its full development as a reformed

* Ante, p. 36-38.
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native State, offered by the needless and unjust suspension of
its legitimate Sovereign.

Mysore is indeed * an exceptional case.” It stands as the
last barrier against a policy of despair and defiance: It ought
to be made our model native State. With it would disappear
the last hope of order and regularity being introduced by our
influence into the administration of the larger Principalities.
No general scheme of policy, no political future would remain
possible for the British Empire in India, but that of a series of
annexations and a progressive augmentation of the European
forces. If the native States cannot be reformed, they are
doomed to be gradually annexed. But if Mysore be annexed,
if, in defiance of her Majesty’s Proclamation, the rapacious
system is be reopened, our promises and counsels will never
be believed or trusted, and any suggestion of reform, or offer of
administrative assistance, will spread consternation and rouse
opposition throughout every native State.

Lord Canning, as it seems to me, betrays an uneasy con-
sciousness that the deliberate appropriation of Mysore which
he even then meditated, was quite indefensible, by his extreme
anxiety that the Rajah should not be startled or provoked into
an assertion of his rights ; by that unpleasant allusion to the
short lives of the Mysore family ; and by his strongly expressed
desire for a free will bequest “in full sovereignty.” He
plainly enough declares a hope that the Rajah may be allowed
to die quietly without having adopted a son, but states no
doubt whatever as to his right to adopt a son if he chooses.

The free will bequest of the country in full sovereignty was
never offered, and will never be effected ; the Rajah, as he has
always intended, will soon adopt a son. On these points, I am
informed, there can be no doubt. The loyal attachment which
Lord Canning acknowledged, will be confirmed throughout
Mysore by the restoration of the Rajah or his suceessor, but
will not long survive the destruction of the dynasty.

Whatever objections may be made to this despatch on general
grounds, it was effectual in removing the particular and imme-
diate grievance of which the Rajah complained; and in the
following letter the Governor General informed his Highness
of the favourable result of his remonstrance :—
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To his Highness the Maharajyah of Mysore.
¢ Fort William, the 28th June, 1860.

¢ MAHARAJAH,

I have the satisfaction to inform your Highness that the
expression of the feelings with which your Highness regarded the
proposed transfer of the superintendence of the Mysore Commission
to the Government of Madras, received, so soon as it was known to
Her Majesty’s Secretary of State for India, the immediate and respeet-
ful consideration of the Queen’s Government.

“I am informed by the Secretary of State, that, in making this
transfer, it was intended that the policy which has guided the admi-
nistration of the Mysore territory should remain the same, and that
its superintendence should continue to be subject to the general
authority and control of the Governor General in Council, but that
now, as being more agreeable to your Highness’s feelings, it has been
determined by Her Majesty’s Government that the orders directing the
transfer should be cancelled.

It gratifies me to think that this intimation will be agreeable to
your Highness. ¢TI have, etc.,

¢ CANNING.”

Matters were thus restored to their former footing, and Sir
Mark Cubbon consented to remain at his post. But in the
following February he was attacked with very serious illness,
and was compelled to resign. He died at Suez, on his way to
England, in April 1861, at an advanced age, having passed
the whole of the present century in India.

So far, let me remind my readers, the amenities prevail.
Not a disagreeable word has passed between Calcutta and
Mysore. And I must also recall the fact that the Rajah’s
letter to Lord Dalhousie of the 8th of August 1848, still re-
mained unanswered at the end of 1860. The Rajah’s repeated
application to be reinstated in the Government of his country,
had never yet been directly refused. The last communication
on the subject which his Highness had received, was the lctter
from General Cubbon of the 5th of December 1845, informing
him, by the Governor General’s orders, that the delay on Lord
Hardinge’s part in replying to the Rajah’s letter of the pre-
ceding Tth of June, was caused by a pending inquiry into the
state of the Mysore debt.

But the crisis was now at hand. Besides one copy sent by
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his Lordship for General Cubbon’s information, several copies
of Lord Canning’s despatch had reached Mysore and Madras,
and the Rajah was not long kept in ignorance of its contents.
While it appeared to promise him relief from his immediate
cause of alarm, it did so on grounds that were still more alarm-
ing. He was represented as a life tenant, and as a life tenant
by choice—as the last in entail, quite willing to make a bequest
of his Kingdom, from his own “ free wiil’’ and * loyal attach-
ment,” to the British Government. And notwithstanding his
frequent previous assertions of his“hereditary patrimony,” of the
rights of his heirs and successors, his latest allusion to the claims
of himself and his heirs to the restoration of the country, was
spoken of in Lord Canning’s despatch as if it were something
quite new and unexpected. Somewhat encouraged therefore
by the favourable answer given to his request, and the courteous
terms in which it was conveyed, the Rajah saw that he must
take the first opportunity of once more distinctly setting forth
his unrevoked pretensions, and of urging their consideration
on the Government of India. An opportunity seemed to pre-
sent itself when General Cubbon’s illness compelled him to
resign the office of Commissioner. It was while Sir Mark
Cubbon was preparing for his departure, that the Rajah ad-
dressed the following letter to Lord Canning :—

¢ Mysore Palace, 23rd February, 1861.
‘¢“My Lorp,

- ¢¢1 have to crave your indulgent attention to, and serious
consideration of, a subject of the highestimportance, which I shall, as
briefly as is compatible with the magnitude of the interests involved,
now proceed to lay before your Lordship. In the year 1799, the all-
powerful English nation conquered the armies of Tippoo, stormed the
fortress of Seringapatam, and slew the usurper, and then that great
statesman, Lord Wellesley, founded a noble and disinterested policy,
which added immensely to the fame of the British Government, and
did more to establish its influence and consolidate its power than
many great victories. The Governor General waived all right of con-
quest, rescued me, then an infant, the rightful heir to the throne of
Mysore, and the descendant of a long line of Kings, from captivity,
and restored me to the musnud of my ancestors. By an Article in the
Treaty between the British and myself, it was provided, that, if at any
time the affairs of my country fell into confusion, the British Govern-
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ment should have the power of assuming the management of the
country until order was restored; and in 1831, Lord William Ben-
tinck, then Governor General, intimated to me that this provision of
the Treaty was to be enforced, and it was enforced without being re-
sisted in any way by me. I will not pause to argue whether the step
taken was an absolutely necessary one. The character of Lord Wil-
liam Bentinck was a guarantee that he cousidered it so; but his views
must have been subsequently greatly modified, for he proposed in the
year 1834, two and a half years after the assumption of my country,
that three-fourths of it should be restored to my control, on the con-
dition that I assented to the temporary alienation of the remaining
portion, as a guarantee for the payment of my Subsidy to the British
Government.* I had previously been gratified by his Lordship’s
assurance that the assumption of the administration of my country by
the Government had not been caused by the personal omissions of
the Sovereign. In the year 1836, Lord Auckland received a despatch
from the Court of Directors, in which their opinion was declared, to
the effect that, instead of adopting the views of Lord William Ben-
tinck, they considered it a better course to let the sole management of
the country remain as it was, until such salutary rules and safeguards
should be matured, as would place the affairs of Mysore on a safe and
secure basis, In a despatch from the Court of Directors, republished
by your Lordship in your last Administration Report of India, it is
ordered, with reference to Mysore, ¢ that they are desirous of adhering,
as far as can be done, to the native usages, and not to introduce a
system which cannot be worked hereafter by native agency when the
country shall be restored to the Rajakh.’ After a personal inspection,
Lord Dalhousie, on his return to Calcutta, pronounced his decision,
that the affairs of Mysore were all that could be desired. My Lord, I
never hesitate to assert that the enviable state of Mysore is to be
attributed to the enlightened services of Sir Mark Cubbon, whose
acknowledgments of my support have received your Lordship’s recog-
nition. During twenty-six years he has carried on the administration
of the affairs of my Kingdom, and has indisputably shown that what-
ever requirements there may be in other countries for introducing
changes, Sir Mark Cubbon has established that Mysore needs none of
them, for its native system of government has produced results that
bear comparison with any that can be exhibited in any part of India,
whether its material prosperity, the happiness of its people, or any

* This is a singular mistake of the Rajah’s. Lord William Bentinck

proposed a permanent cession, not a temporary alienation. Could the
Rajah have misunderstood it at the time?
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other test be applied. But, my Lord, as you know, 8ir Mark Cubbon
leaves his office, and there is no successor who can occupy his place.
He departs with the fervent prayers of the Sovereign and his subjects,
that blessings may be showered on him.

¢ The universal desire of my people, and justice to my own cha-
racter, require that I should™now solicit the restoration of my sove-
reign rights, of which I was deprived, as has already been stated, as a
temporary measure; in proof of which, should proof be required in a
matter so notorious, I beg to refer your Lordship to Lord William
Bentinck’s despatch to the Court of Directors, the Court’s answer to
Lord Auckland, also the Court’s despatch, an extract from which I
have quoted above. What I ask, my Lord, is not much ; the country
is acknowledged to be mine; all I ask, then, before I die, is that I may
be restored to the position I formerly held, that the stigma which
now attaches to my name may be removed, and that I may appear
once more before my own subjects and the Princes and people of
India as the Sovereign of Mysore in fact as well as in word.

1 ask fo ountry, not with the intention of making any great
changes in the nature of its administration, for Sir Mark Cubbon has
shown where the safe road to further improvement alone lies; and I
purpose by the selection of experienced persons to conduct the Go-
vernment, to prove that this State will continue to prosper under a
superintended native administration, and be as heretofore loyal to Her
Majesty and to her successors, be the consequences what they may to
myself and my heirs. I have now only to request your Lordship to
submit thi§*fEter to Her Majesty’s Government, and to solicit your
support of my claim; and this, from the proofs I have already re-
ceived of your Lordship’s generous nature, and from the noble senti-
ments expressed in your Lordship’s letter to the Secretary of State for
IndigLE)Tl_gﬂ;; questxon of the rights of native Princes, I feel assured I

“shall receive. And here I hope I may be pardoned if I express my
individual opinion, as one of the Sovereigns of India, on your Lord-
ship’s just and wise treatment of the native Princes of this great
country, in strengthening their hands, elevating their position, and
consolidating their possessions. A day will come, my Lord, possibly
not in my time, for I am now an old man, but probably at no remote
period, when these Princes and Chiefs, bound to your Government by
the double tie of gratitude and self-interest, will present a bulwark
which neither the wave of foreign invasion nor the tide of internal
disaffection can throw down; and then the wisdom and justice of

your Lordship’s policy, a policy which no Governor Gengral before
your Lordship had the courage to avow, will become mauifest to the
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world. In conclusion, I beg you to remember, my Lord, that I have
never committed the smallest offence towards the British Government.
I have ever been true and loyal; the avowed object for which the
Government of my country was temporarily assumed has long since
been accomplished, and there is no justifiable pretext for its further
retention. Support, then, my prayer, my Lord; render me justice,
and make the few remaining days of a Sovereign who has drunk so
deeply of the bitter cup of afliction as I have done, happy, and you
will add another jewel to that immortal crown which your Lordship
has earned by your generous advocacy and support of the rights of the
Princes of India.”

The solemn appeal here recorded remained unanswered and
unnoticed for thirteen months.



CHAPTER 1IV.
1862 AND 1863.

THE letter dated the 11th of March, 1862, which I am now
about to lay before my readers, with a few brief comments of
my own annexed to some of the paragraphs,* did not, of course,
come into the hands of the Rajah of Mysore until several days
after Lord Canning’s departure; for his Lordship left Calcutta
for England on the 12th of March, the very day after that on
which this letter must have been signed, and, I suppose, de-
.spatched. Tn all probability, therefore, this was Lord Can-
ning’s last public act of any importance.

““ To his Highness the Maharajah Kishen Raj Wadiyar Bahkadoor,

« Mysore.
¢“ MY HONOURED AND VALUED FRIEND,

1. ¢I have received your Highness’s Khureetas of the 14th
August and 21st October, urging, with reference to your own advanced
age and my approaching return to England, that a speedy answer
should be given to your Highness’s Khureeta of the 23rd February,
1861.

2. ¢TIt is your Highness’s request that the last mentioned Khureeta
may be submitted to Her Majesty’s Government, and that it may be
accompanied by my support of the claim therein advanced—that claim
being, that the management of the country of Mysore should be now
restored to your Highness.

8. “This demand, based upon arguments which will hereafter be
noticed, is ofte which it is as little my inclination as my duty, to
treat lightly, or to set aside without the most patient and impartial
consideration ; and I regret the disappointment which may be caused
to your Highness, when I now inform you of my inability to support
your claim, or to admit the grounds on which it is founded, and which
T regard as mistaken and untenable.

AR 0 N

* T have affixed numbers to the paragraphs, which was not done in the
original. I have also italicised certain passages.
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4. “My regret is the greater because it was my pleasing duty,
in a letter of the 28th June, 1860, to express to your Highness my
cordial thanks for your steadfast loyalty, prominently noticed by
the late Sir Mark Cubbon in his letter of the 2nd June, 1860, and
subsequently to make known to Her Majesty’s Government the
spirit by which your Highness had been animated, and of which
you had given substantial proofs during the troubles of 1857.
Your Highness, in your Khureeta of the 23rd February, 1861, after
a candid avowal that the present enviable state of Mysore is attribut-
able to the enlightened services of Sir Mark Cubbon, has referred to
a supposed recognition by me, not only of the loyalty displayed by
your Highness at the time of which Sir Mark Cubbon wrote, but also
of support given by your Highness to that officer during his long and
able administration. Had Sir Mark Cubbon ever acknowledged
such support, your Highness must feel sure that nothing would have
been more agreeable to me than to have had it in my power, on such
good grounds, to attribute to your Highness a share in the credit due
for the successful administration of Mysore. Under such circum-
stances there would most certainly have been no hesitation on my
part in freely according to your Highness the merit which you ap-
pear to claim in your Khureeta of the 23d February, 1861. ButI
cannot conceal from your Highness that throughout the correspond-
ence between Sir Mark Cubbon and this Government, extending as it
does over many years, I have failed to find any such acknowledgment.
Sir Mark Cubbon has left on re-
cord opinions of an entirely con-
{ trary character. He has stated

that any improvements which had

PARAGRAPH 4.
As to the counteraction of the
Rajah and his ¢ partisans,” (in-
cluding the British Resident,) a

taken place had been effected in
spite of the counteraction he had
met with on the part of your High-
ness and your partisans, and that
the conduct of your Highness,
during your suspension from
power, would afford no security
that the crisis which had induced
your suspension would not recur
in the event of your restoration.

sufficient answer to this imputa-
tion has been given already.
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